UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

×	-	REPORT PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANG e quarterly period ended S		
		OF REPORT PURSUANT TO SECURITIES EXCHANCE the transition period from		
		Commission File Number:	001-16131	
W		FLING ENT Exact name of Registrant as specifi	ERTAINMENT, I	NC.
	Delaware		04-2693383	
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation	or organization)	(I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)	
		Stamford, CT 069 (203) 352-8600 cluding zip code, and telephone m of Registrant's principal execu- es registered pursuant to Sect	mber, including area code, tive offices)	
	Title of each class	Trading Symbo	l(s) Name of each exchange	e on which registered
Class A Common	1 Stock, par value \$0.01 per share	WWE	New York Sto	ck Exchange
Indicate by check during the preceding 12 for the past 90 days. Yes	months (or for such shorter period th	filed all reports required to bat the Registrant was require	e filed by Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securit d to file such reports) and (2) has been subject	ies Exchange Act of 1934 ct to such filing requirement
			teractive Data File required to be submitted ant was required to submit such files). Yes	
Indicate by check emerging growth compa 12b-2 of the Exchange A	ny. See definitions of "large accelera	e accelerated filer, an acceler ted filer," "accelerated filer,"	ated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller rep "smaller reporting company," and "emerging	porting company, or an ng growth company" in Rule
Large Accelerated File	r ⊠ Accelerated Filer □ No	on-Accelerated Filer	Smaller Reporting Company □	Emerging Growth Company □
	owth company, indicate by check mating standards provided pursuant to S		d not to use the extended transition period for Act. \square	or complying with any new of
Indicate by check	mark whether the Registrant is a she	ell company (as defined in Ru	lle 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes □ No	×
	20, the number of shares outstanding the Registrant's Class B common sto		common stock, par value \$.01 per share, was was 31,099,011.	s 46,694,963 and the numbe

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page #
Part I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION	
Item 1. Consolidated Financial Statements (unaudited)	2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019	2
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019	3
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019	4
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019	5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019	7
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	33
Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk	48
Item 4. Controls and Procedures	48
Part II – OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1. Legal Proceedings	49
Item 1A. Risk Factors	51
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	52
Item 6. Exhibits	52
<u>Signatures</u>	53

WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS (In thousands, except per share data) (Unaudited)

	 Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	 2020	2019		2020			2019		
Net revenues	\$ 221,595	\$	186,383	\$	736,009	\$	637,640		
Operating expenses	107,999		133,842		400,783		466,655		
Marketing and selling expenses	14,513		16,376		54,687		64,396		
General and administrative expenses	25,144		18,481		75,891		66,396		
Depreciation and amortization	 10,557		11,245		32,225		23,503		
Operating income	 63,382		6,439		172,423		16,690		
Interest expense	 9,147		7,834		26,477		18,182		
Other income, net	 7,003		206		5,066		2,836		
Income (loss) before income taxes	 61,238		(1,189)		151,012		1,344		
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	12,960		(6,979)		32,772		(6,464)		
Net income	\$ 48,278	\$	5,790	\$	118,240	\$	7,808		
Earnings per share: basic	\$ 0.62	\$	0.07	\$	1.53	\$	0.10		
Earnings per share: diluted	\$ 0.57	\$	0.06	\$	1.40	\$	0.09		
Weighted average common shares outstanding:									
Basic	77,705		78,461		77,487		78,184		
Diluted	84,125		89,855		84,397		90,771		
Dividends declared per common share (Class A and B)	\$ 0.12	\$	0.12	\$	0.36	\$	0.36		

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (In thousands) (Unaudited)

		Three Moi Septem			 Nine Mon Septen	
	2020 2019			2020	2019	
Net income	\$	48,278	\$	5,790	\$ 118,240	\$ 7,808
Other comprehensive income (loss):				·		
Foreign currency translation adjustments		181		(66)	(13)	(143)
Net unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale debt securities (net						
of tax expense of \$8 and \$44, and \$38 and \$402, respectively)		26		138	120	1,272
Total other comprehensive income		207		72	107	1,129
Comprehensive income	\$	48,485	\$	5,862	\$ 118,347	\$ 8,937

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. $\label{eq:consolidated} 3$

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

	As of				
	S	eptember 30, 2020		December 31, 2019	
ASSETS					
CURRENT ASSETS:					
Cash and cash equivalents	\$	519,461	\$	90,447	
Short-term investments, net		118,790		160,034	
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns					
of \$2,181 and \$818, respectively)		69,262		124,771	
Inventory, net		8,170		8,252	
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		43,517		20,806	
Total current assets		759,200		404,310	
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET		164,317		174,752	
FINANCE LEASE RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, NET		314,945		289,932	
OPERATING LEASE RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, NET		14,329		20,811	
CONTENT PRODUCTION ASSETS, NET		21,449		20,045	
INVESTMENT SECURITIES		31,215		28,106	
DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS, NET				7,217	
OTHER ASSETS, NET		48,812		47,060	
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	1,354,267	\$	992,233	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY					
CURRENT LIABILITIES:					
Current portion of long-term debt	\$	200,407	\$	3,613	
Finance lease liabilities		9,230		7,945	
Operating lease liabilities		4,119		6,586	
Convertible debt		193,149		188,667	
Accounts payable and accrued expenses		86,316		80,592	
Deferred income		64,226		56,941	
Total current liabilities		557,447		344,344	
LONG-TERM DEBT		21,801		22,098	
FINANCE LEASE LIABILITIES		378,795		335,465	
OPERATING LEASE LIABILITIES		10,598		14,571	
OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES		3,403		429	
Total liabilities		972,044		716,907	
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES					
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:					
Class A common stock: (\$0.01 par value; 180,000,000 shares authorized;					
46,688,010 and 46,181,320 shares issued and outstanding as of					
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively)		467		462	
Class B convertible common stock: (\$0.01 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized;					
31,099,011 and 31,099,011 shares issued and outstanding as of					
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively)		311		311	
Additional paid-in capital		422,397		405,353	
Accumulated other comprehensive income		2,971		2,864	
Accumulated deficit		(43,923)		(133,664)	
Total stockholders' equity		382,223		275,326	
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	\$	1,354,267	\$	992,233	

WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC. CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (In thousands) (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 Additional Common Stock Class A Class B Paid - in Comprehensive Accumulated Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Încome Deficit Total (82,285) 48,278 Balance, June 30, 2020 46,318 \$ 463 31,099 424,202 \$ 2,764 \$ 345,455 48,278 207 1,219 Net income 207 Other comprehensive income Stock issuances, net
Taxes paid related to net settlement upon 370 4 1,215 (8,420) 581 4,819 (8,420) (9,335) 4,819 vesting of equity awards Cash dividends declared (9,916) Stock-based compensation 46,688 \$ Balance, September 30, 2020 31,099 422,397 2,971 (43,923) \$

		Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020												
					_	Accumulated								
		Commor	Stock		Additional	Other								
	Cla	ss A	Cla	ass B	Paid - in	Comprehensive	Accumulated							
	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amount	Capital	Income	Deficit	Total						
Balance, December 31, 2019	46,181	§ 462	31,099	§ 311	\$ 405,353	<u>\$</u> 2,864	\$ (133,664)	\$ 275,326						
Net income		_		_			118,240	118,240						
Other comprehensive income	_	_	_	_	_	107	_	107						
Stock issuances, net	507	5			2,626	_	_	2,631						
Taxes paid related to net settlement upon														
vesting of equity awards	_	_	_	_	(11,040)	_	_	(11,040)						
Cash dividends declared	_	_	_	_	585	_	(28,499)	(27,914)						
Stock-based compensation					24,873			24,873						
Balance, September 30, 2020	46,688	<u>\$ 467</u>	31,099	<u>\$ 311</u>	<u>\$ 422,397</u>	<u>\$ 2,971</u>	<u>\$ (43,923)</u>	\$ 382,223						

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (In thousands) (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Accumulated Common Stock Additional Other Class A Class B Paid - in Comprehensive Accumulated Shares 31,099 \$ Income Shares Amount Amount Capital Deficit Total Balance, June 30, 2019 46,938 \$ 469 440,796 \$ 2,559 \$ (118,849)325,286 5,790 5,790 Net income 72 72 (7,531) Other comprehensive income (111)(1,035)Repurchase and retirement of common stock (6,496)Taxes paid related to net settlement upon vesting of equity awards

Cash dividends declared 6 625 941 (29,883) 964 (29,883) (9,425) 7,740 (10,389)Stock-based compensation 7,740 475 31,099 311 2,631 (129,944)Balance, September 30, 2019 47,452 \$ 419,523

		Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019											
		Commo	n Stock		Additional	Accumulated Other							
	Cla	Class A		Class B		Comprehensive	Accumulated						
	Shares	Amount	Shares	Amount	Capital	Income	Deficit	Total					
Balance, December 31, 2018	43,721	437	34,303	§ 343	\$ 415,281	\$ 1,502	\$ (101,326)	\$ 316,237					
Net income	_	_	_	_	_	_	7,808	7,808					
Other comprehensive income	_	_	_	_	_	1,129	<u> </u>	1,129					
Repurchase and retirement of common stock	(123)	_	_	_	(1,157)	· —	(7,295)	(8,452)					
Stock issuances, net	650	6	_	_	2,318	_	` ´ <u> ´</u>	2,324					
Conversion of Class B common stock by shareholder	3,204	32	(3,204)	(32)	_	_	_	_					
Taxes paid related to net settlement upon vesting of equity awards	_	_	_	_	(30,125)	_	_	(30,125)					
Cash dividends declared	_	_	_	_	974	_	(29,131)	(28,157)					
Stock-based compensation					32,232			32,232					
Balance, September 30, 2019	47,452	3 475	31,099	\$ 311	\$ 419,523	\$ 2,631	\$ (129,944)	\$ 292,996					

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (In thousands) (Unaudited)

Nine Months Ended

	September 30,				
		2020		2019	
OPERATING ACTIVITIES:					
Net income	\$	118,240	\$	7,808	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:					
Amortization and impairments of content production assets		14,903		27,528	
Depreciation and amortization		36,437		27,776	
Other amortization		13,585		10,355	
(Gain) loss on equity investments, net		(2,882)		3,208	
Stock-based compensation		24,873		32,232	
Provision for deferred income taxes		10,181		458	
Other non-cash adjustments		15,464		4,706	
Cash provided by (used in) changes in operating assets and liabilities:					
Accounts receivable		54,187		(64,221)	
Inventory		(1,629)		(774)	
Prepaid expenses and other assets		(21,859)		(8,797)	
Content production assets		(19,499)		(26,574)	
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities		8,057		(31,583)	
Deferred income		7,488		20,153	
Net cash provided by operating activities		257,546		2,275	
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:					
Purchases of property and equipment and other assets		(21,435)		(56,290)	
Purchases of short-term investments		(64,290)		(74,868)	
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments		105,416		113,262	
Purchase of investment securities		(200)		(1,006)	
Other		<u> </u>		794	
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities		19,491		(18,108)	
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:	·			<u> </u>	
Repayment of long-term debt		(3,503)		(3,815)	
Repayment of finance leases		(8,197)		(6,218)	
Dividends paid		(27,914)		(28,157)	
Debt issuance costs				(708)	
Proceeds from borrowings under Revolving Credit Facility		200,000			
Taxes paid related to net settlement upon vesting of equity awards		(11,040)		(30,125)	
Proceeds from issuance of stock		2,631		2,324	
Repurchase and retirement of common stock		´ —		(8,452)	
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities		151,977		(75,151)	
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		429,014		(90,984)	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD		90,447		167,457	
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD	\$	519,461	\$	76,473	
NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING TRANSACTIONS:	<u>*</u>	017,101	<u> </u>	70,175	
Purchases of property and equipment recorded in accounts payable					
i denases of property and equipment recorded in accounts payable					
and accrued expenses (See Note 12)	\$	2,658	\$	7,234	

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

1. Basis of Presentation and Business Description

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of WWE. "WWE" refers to World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and its subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires. References to "we," "us," "our" and the "Company" refer to WWE.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires our management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements are unaudited. All adjustments (consisting of normal recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation of financial position, results of operations, and cash flows at the dates and for the periods presented have been included. The results of operations of any interim period are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for the full year. All intercompany balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Certain information and note disclosures normally included in annual financial statements have been condensed or omitted from these interim financial statements; these financial statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto included in our Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

We are an integrated media and entertainment company, principally engaged in the production and distribution of wrestling entertainment content through various channels, including our premium over-the-top subscription network ("WWE Network"), content rights agreements, pay-per-view event programming, filmed entertainment, live events, licensing of various WWE themed products, and the sale of consumer products featuring our brands. Our operations are organized around the following principal activities:

Media:

• The Media segment reflects the production and monetization of long-form and short-form video content across various platforms, including WWE Network, broadcast and pay television, digital and social media, as well as filmed entertainment. Across these platforms, revenues principally consist of content rights fees associated with the distribution of our programming content, subscriptions to WWE Network, and advertising and sponsorships.

Live Events:

• Live events provide ongoing content for our media platforms. Live Event segment revenues consist primarily of ticket sales, including primary and secondary distribution, revenues from events for which we receive a fixed fee, as well as the sale of travel packages associated with the Company's global live events.

Consumer Products:

• The Consumer Products segment engages in the merchandising of WWE branded products, such as video games, toys and apparel, through licensing arrangements and direct-to-consumer sales. Revenues principally consist of royalties and licensee fees related to WWE branded products, and sales of merchandise distributed at our live events and through eCommerce platforms.

Note on the COVID-19 Pandemic

The global spread of the coronavirus pandemic ("COVID-19") and the various attempts to contain it have resulted in restrictions, postponements and cancellations of various sports and other events and has and likely will continue to require us to cancel, postpone or relocate certain of our live events. We do not currently expect insurance to cover a significant portion, if any, of this lost business. COVID-19 has also continued to create significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption, the full extent of which will depend on numerous evolving factors that we can neither predict nor control, including the pandemic's duration and severity and the governmental, business and individual responses to it. As a result, we have been required to alter certain aspects of our operations beyond our live events. We have taken measures to protect the health and well-being of our employees and our talent and other vendors. Our workforce has spent a significant amount of time working from home. Travel has been severely curtailed. We have greatly increased our cleaning and health check protocols, which increase related expenditures. We also implemented certain cash conserving measures, which were or have been in effect for various time periods, including pausing our stock repurchase program and certain capital expenditures; containing employment costs through salary reductions and furloughs; containing certain third party vendor costs; and drawing under our revolving credit facility. We believe our partners' operations have also been affected. To the extent the resulting

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

economic disruption is severe, we could see supply constraints and/or a negative impact on our customers' demand, or ability to pay (including an impact on the collectability of our accounts receivable), for our goods and services. We will continue to actively monitor the issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter our business operations that are required by applicable governmental authorities and/or that we determine to be in the best interests of our employees, talent, customers, partners and stockholders. There can be no assurance that we will be entirely successful in these endeavors, which could result in inadvertent noncompliance with applicable law. The COVID-19 pandemic also could result in heightened litigation risks relating to personal injury or death and/or increased levels of commercial litigation. Any of the foregoing could have a material negative effect on our business and results of operations.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Our significant accounting policies are detailed in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019. During the first quarter of 2020, the Company adopted new accounting guidance related to improvements to the accounting for film costs. Refer to Note 9, Content Production Assets, Net, for a description of the updated accounting policy. Additionally, the Company adopted new accounting guidance related to the measurement of credit losses for certain financial instruments. Refer to Note 10, Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments, for details on the adoption. Additional details related to these adoptions are described further below in Recent Accounting Pronouncements.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of our production costs associated with developing our content, costs associated with operating our WWE Network, venue rental and related costs associated with the staging of our live events, compensation costs for our talent, and material and related costs associated with our consumer product merchandise sales. In addition, operating expenses include the operating costs associated with talent development, data analytics, data engineering, business strategy and real estate and facilities functions, as these activities directly support the operations of our segments.

Included within Operating expenses are the following:

	Three Months Ended September 30,					Nine Mon Septem	
		2020	2019		2020		 2019
Amortization and impairment of content production assets	\$	2,933	\$	12,866	\$	14,903	\$ 27,528
Depreciation and amortization of WWE Network content delivery and technology assets		1,490		508		4,002	4,272
Amortization of right-of-use assets - finance leases of equipment		3,016		2,015		8,401	6,007
Depreciation on equipment used directly to support operations		141				417	<u> </u>
Total depreciation and amortization included in operating expenses	\$	7,580	\$	15,389	\$	27,723	\$ 37,807

Costs to produce our live event programming are expensed when the event is first broadcast, and are not included in the amortization table noted above.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2020-06, "Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity's Own Equity." The amendment simplifies the accounting for certain financial instruments with characteristics of liabilities and equity, including convertible instruments and contracts on an entity's own equity. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 (fiscal year 2022 for the Company) with early adoption permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020 (fiscal year 2021 for the Company). The amendments can be adopted either using a modified retrospective method of transition or a fully retrospective method of transition. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of the ASU on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In March 2019, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2019-02, "Improvements to Accounting for Costs of Films and License Agreements for Program Materials", in order to align the accounting for production costs of an episodic television series with the accounting for production costs of films by removing the content distinction for capitalization. The amendments also require that an entity reassess estimates of the use of a film in a film group and account for any changes prospectively. In addition, the amendments require that an entity test films and license agreements for program material for impairment at a film group level when the film or license agreements are predominantly monetized with other films and license agreements. The Company evaluated its portfolio

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

of content assets in order to determine the predominant monetization strategies which now dictates the appropriate impairment model to apply. In general, the Company's content assets related to original programming content airing on the WWE Network are predominantly monetized as a film group through monthly subscription fees collected from WWE Network subscribers, while the Company's other content assets comprised largely of feature films and episodic television series which are licensed or sold to distributors are predominantly monetized individually through the underlying rights fees collected under the distribution arrangements. The Company previously provided separate captions within noncurrent assets on the face of the consolidated balance sheet for episodic television production assets and feature film production assets. With the adoption of the amendments, the Company now presents both episodic television and feature film production assets under one combined caption, Content production assets, net, within the noncurrent assets section of the consolidated balance sheet. To conform to the current period presentation, the Content productions assets, net balance of \$20,045 as of December 31, 2019 is comprised of \$15,873 of feature film production assets and \$4,172 of television production assets. ASU 2019-02 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted the amendments on January 1, 2020 with no material impact to our consolidated financial statements upon adoption. Refer to Note 9, *Content Production Assets, Net*, for further details.

In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, "Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808) – Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and Topic 606." The amendments in this ASU clarifies that certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be accounted for as revenue under Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, when the collaborative arrangement participant is a customer in the context of a unit of account and precludes recognizing as revenue consideration received from a collaborative arrangement participant if the participant is not a customer. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted the amendment on January 1, 2020 with no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, "Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That Is a Service Contract." The new guidance aligns the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). The accounting for the service element of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract is not affected by the amendments in this update. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The Company adopted the amendments on January 1, 2020 and applied the amendments prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, "Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Disclosure Framework—Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement", which modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Upon the effective date, certain provisions are to be applied prospectively, while others are to be applied retrospectively to all periods presented. The amendments eliminated certain disclosure requirements such as the elimination of disclosing the valuation process for Level 3 fair value measurements. Other amendments in the update did not largely impact the Company. The Company adopted the amendments on January 1, 2020 with no impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, "Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments" ("ASU 2016-13"), which requires an entity to assess impairment of its financial instruments based on its estimate of expected credit losses. Since the issuance of ASU 2016-13, the FASB released several amendments to improve and clarify the implementation guidance. The provisions of ASU 2016-13 and the related amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. Entities are required to apply these changes through a cumulative-effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. The Company evaluated its financial instruments and determined that its trade accounts receivables are subject to the new current expected credit loss model and the Company's available-for-sale debt securities are subject to the new modified credit impairment guidance. Based upon the application of the new current expected credit loss model on our opening balance of accounts receivable as of January 1, 2020, we determined that no material incremental credit loss reserve is needed and accordingly did not record a cumulative effect adjustment. As of the adoption date on January 1, 2020, the Company applied the new credit impairment guidance for available-for-sale debt securities on a prospective basis. Refer to Note 10, Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments, for further information on our available-for-sale debt securities.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

3. Segment Information

The Company currently classifies its operations into three reportable segments: Media, Live Events and Consumer Products. Segment information is prepared on the same basis that our chief operating decision maker manages the segments, evaluates financial results, and makes key operating decisions.

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate functions such as finance, legal, human resources, facilities and information technology. These unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses will be shown, as applicable, as a reconciling item in tables where segment and consolidated results are both shown. Revenues from transactions between our operating segments are not material.

The Company presents Adjusted OIBDA as the primary measure of segment profit (loss). The Company defines Adjusted OIBDA as operating income before depreciation and amortization, excluding stock-based compensation, certain impairment charges and other non-recurring material items. Adjusted OIBDA includes depreciation and amortization expenses directly related to supporting the operations of our segments, including content production asset amortization, depreciation and amortization of costs related to content delivery and technology assets utilized for our WWE Network, as well as amortization of right-of-use assets related to finance leases of equipment used to produce and broadcast our live events. The Company believes the presentation of Adjusted OIBDA is relevant and useful for investors because it allows investors to view our segment performance in the same manner as the primary method used by management to evaluate segment performance and make decisions about allocating resources. Additionally, we believe that Adjusted OIBDA is a primary measure used by media investors, analysts and peers for comparative purposes.

We do not disclose assets by segment information. We do not provide assets by segment information to our chief operating decision maker, as that information is not typically used in the determination of resource allocation and assessing business performance of each reportable segment.

The following tables present summarized financial information for each of the Company's reportable segments:

	Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	 2020	2019		2020			2019		
Net revenues:									
Media	\$ 200,969	\$	146,168	\$	657,693	\$	478,516		
Live Events	703		23,261		19,215		98,231		
Consumer Products	19,923		16,954		59,101		60,893		
Total net revenues	\$ 221,595	\$	186,383	\$	736,009	\$	637,640		
Adjusted OIBDA:									
Media	\$ 101,739	\$	41,562	\$	294,829	\$	107,563		
Live Events	(4,116)		(2,956)		(10,928)		11,174		
Consumer Products	5,605		3,960		17,523		16,196		
Corporate	 (18,931)		(17,142)		(66,364)		(62,508)		
Total Adjusted OIBDA	\$ 84,297	\$	25,424	\$	235,060	\$	72,425		

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Reconciliation of Total Operating Income to Total Adjusted OIBDA

	Three Months Ended September 30,					Nine Mon Septem		
		2020		2019		2020		2019
Total operating income	\$	63,382	\$	6,439	\$	172,423	\$	16,690
Depreciation and amortization (1)		10,557		11,245		32,225		23,503
Stock-based compensation		4,819		7,740		24,873		32,232
Other adjustments (2)		5,539				5,539		
Total Adjusted OIBDA	\$	84,297	\$	25,424	\$	235,060	\$	72,425

- (1) Depreciation and amortization for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 includes \$6,798 and \$2,268, respectively, of amortization related to the right-of-use asset for the Company's new global headquarters lease, which commenced on July 1, 2019 and is accounted for as a finance lease.
- (2) Other adjustments for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.

4. Revenues

Revenues are generally recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers either at a point in time or over time, in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Most of our contracts have one performance obligation and all consideration is allocated to that performance obligation. Our revenues do not include material amounts of variable consideration. The variable consideration contained in our contracts relate primarily to sales or usage-based royalties earned on consumer product licensing contracts. The variability related to these sales or usage-based royalties will be resolved in the periods when the licensee generates sales related to the intellectual property license. As it relates to our Consumer Products segment, the Company accounts for shipping and handling activities as fulfillment activities.

We derive our revenues principally from the following sources: (i) content rights fees associated with the distribution of WWE's media content, (ii) subscriptions to WWE Network, (iii) fees for viewing our pay-per-view programming, (iv) feature film distribution, (v) advertising and sponsorship sales, (vi) live event ticket sales, (vii) consumer product licensing royalties from the sale by third-party licensees of WWE branded merchandise, (viii) direct-to-consumer sales of merchandise at our live event venues, and (ix) direct-to-consumer sales of our merchandise through eCommerce platforms.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Disaggregated Revenues

The following table presents our revenues disaggregated by primary revenue sources. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded from revenues.

	Three Months Ended September 30,						ths Ended iber 30,	
		2020		2019		2020		2019
Net revenues:								
Media Segment:								
Network (including pay-per-view)	\$	47,767	\$	44,199	\$	140,651	\$	143,001
Core content rights fees (1)		132,363		72,210		398,464		209,294
Advertising and sponsorships		18,060		15,014		48,751		44,819
Other (2)		2,779		14,745		69,827		81,402
Total Media Segment net revenues		200,969		146,168		657,693		478,516
Live Events Segment:								
North American ticket sales		_		18,316		15,206		76,048
International ticket sales		_		2,302		210		12,039
Advertising and sponsorships		_		529		371		1,673
Other (3)		703		2,114		3,428		8,471
Total Live Events Segment net revenues		703		23,261		19,215		98,231
Consumer Products Segment:								
Consumer product licensing		10,809		7,843		28,187		26,650
eCommerce		9,114		5,624		27,715		18,857
Venue merchandise		_		3,487		3,199		15,386
Total Consumer Products Segment net revenues		19,923		16,954		59,101		60,893
Total net revenues	\$	221,595	\$	186,383	\$	736,009	\$	637,640

- (1) Core content rights fees consist primarily of licensing revenues earned from the distribution of our flagship programs, *RAW* and *SmackDown*, as well as our *NXT* programming, through global broadcast, pay television and digital platforms.
- (2) Other revenues within our Media segment reflect revenues earned from the distribution of other WWE content, including, but not limited to, certain live in-ring programming in international markets, scripted, reality and other programming, as well as theatrical and direct-to-home video releases.
- (3) Other revenues within our Live Events segment primarily consists of the sale of travel packages associated with the Company's global live events and commissions earned through secondary ticketing, as well as revenues from events for which the Company receives a fixed fee.

Except for our WWE Network subscriptions revenues, which are recorded over time during the subscription term and our consumer product licensing revenues which are recorded over time during the licensing period, our other revenue streams identified in the table above are generally recognized at a point-in-time when the performance obligations are satisfied.

Payment Terms and Other

Our revenues do not include material amounts of variable consideration, other than the sale or usage-based royalties earned related to our consumer product licensing and certain other content rights contracts. Our payment terms vary by the type of products or services offered, and may be subject to contractual payment terms, which may include advance payment requirements. The time between invoicing and when payment is due is not significant, generally within 30 to 60 days. We have elected the practical expedient to not adjust the total consideration within a contract to reflect a financing component when the duration of the financing is one year or less. Our contracts do not generally include a significant financing component. Our contracts with customers do not generally result in significant obligations associated with returns, refunds or warranties.

WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of September 30, 2020, for contracts greater than one year, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations is \$3,259,766, comprised of our multi-year content distribution, consumer product licensing and sponsorship contracts. We will recognize rights fees related to our multi-year content distribution contracts as content is delivered to the distributors during the periods 2020 through 2028. We will recognize the revenues associated with the minimum guarantees on our multi-year consumer product licensing arrangements by the end of the licensing periods, which range from 2020 through 2025. For our multi-year sponsorship arrangements, we will recognize sponsorship revenues as the sponsorship obligations are satisfied during the periods 2020 through 2028. The transaction price related to these future obligations do not include any variable consideration, which generally consists of sales or usage-based royalties earned on consumer product licensing and certain other content rights contracts. The variability related to these sales or usage-based royalties will be resolved in the periods when the licensee generates sales related to the intellectual property license.

Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities (Deferred Revenues)

A contract asset results when goods or services have been transferred to the customer, but payment is contingent upon a future event, other than the passage of time. The Company does not have any material contract assets, only accounts receivable as disclosed on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

We record deferred revenues (also referred to as contract liabilities under ASC Topic 606) when cash payments are received or due in advance of our performance. Our deferred revenue balance primarily relates to advance payments received related to our content distribution rights agreements, our consumer product licensing agreements, and our sponsorship and advertising arrangements. The Company's deferred revenue (i.e. contract liabilities) as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019 was \$64,282 and \$57,025, respectively, and are included within Deferred income and Other non-current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The net increase in the deferred revenue balance for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 of \$7,257 is primarily driven by licensing advances received, partially offset by revenue recognized during the period as a result of satisfying our performance obligations.

Contract Costs (Costs of Obtaining a Contract)

Except for certain multi-year television content arrangements, we generally expense sales commissions when incurred because the amortization period would have been one year or less. These costs are recorded within Marketing and selling expenses within our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Capitalized commission fees of \$750 and \$825 at September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, relate primarily to incremental costs of obtaining our long-term television content arrangements and these costs are being amortized over the duration of the underlying content agreements on a straight-line basis to marketing and selling expense. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the amount of amortization was \$25 and \$345, and \$75 and \$1,036, respectively, and there was no impairment in relation to the costs capitalized.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

5. Earnings Per Share

For purposes of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share, we used the following weighted average common shares outstanding (in thousands):

	 	nths Ended iber 30,	Nine Months Ended September 30,				
	 2020	2019	2020	2019			
Net income	\$ 48,278	\$ 5,790	\$ 118,240	\$ 7,808			
Weighted average basic common shares outstanding	77,705	78,461	77,487	78,184			
Dilutive effect of restricted and performance stock units	372	984	556	1,536			
Dilutive effect of convertible debt instruments	6,048	10,410	6,350	11,048			
Dilutive effect of employee share purchase plan	´ —	´ —	4	3			
Weighted average dilutive common shares outstanding	84,125	89,855	84,397	90,771			
Earnings per share:							
Basic	\$ 0.62	\$ 0.07	\$ 1.53	\$ 0.10			
Diluted	\$ 0.57	\$ 0.06	\$ 1.40	\$ 0.09			
Anti-dilutive shares (excluded from per-share calculations):							
Net shares received on purchased call of convertible debt hedge	3,713	5,626	3,845	5,906			

Effect of Convertible Notes and Related Convertible Note Hedge and Warrants

In connection with the issuance of the Convertible Notes, the Company entered into Convertible Note Hedge and Warrant transactions as described further in Note 13, *Convertible Debt.* The collective impact of the Convertible Note Hedge and Warrants effectively eliminates any economic dilution that may occur from the actual conversion of the Convertible Notes between the conversion price of \$24.91 per share and the strike price of the Warrants of \$31.89 per share.

For reporting periods with net income, the denominator of our diluted earnings per share calculation includes the effect of additional shares issued using the treasury stock method since the average price of our common stock exceeded the conversion price of the Convertible Notes of \$24.91 per share. In addition, the denominator also includes the additional shares issued related to the Warrants using the treasury stock method since the average price of our common stock exceeded the strike price of the Warrants of \$31.89 per share. The dilution from the Convertible Notes had a \$0.04 and \$0.01, and \$0.11 and \$0.01 impact on diluted earnings per share for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Prior to actual conversion, the Convertible Note Hedges are not considered for purposes of the calculation of diluted earnings per share, as their effect would be anti-dilutive.

6. Stock-based Compensation

Our 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2016 Plan") provides for the grant of incentive or non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, other stock-based awards and performance awards to eligible participants as determined by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. Awards may be granted as incentives and rewards to encourage officers, employees, consultants, advisors and independent contractors of the Company and its affiliates and to non-employee directors of the Company to participate in our long-term success.

Stock-based compensation costs, which includes costs related to RSUs, PSU-TSRs, the Company's qualified employee stock purchase plan and shares issued to the Company's Board of Directors, totaled \$4,819 and \$7,740, and \$24,873 and \$32,232, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

During the first quarter of 2020, certain executives of the Company who received PSUs and PSU-TSRs departed the Company, and therefore forfeited their respective shares. The Company estimates forfeitures on our stock-based compensation awards based on historical trends when recognizing compensation expense and adjust the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to differ or as forfeitures occur. The units associated with these awards are included in the respective tables below.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Restricted Stock Units

The Company grants restricted stock units ("RSUs") to officers and employees under the 2016 Plan. Stock-based compensation costs associated with our RSUs are determined using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date of the grant. These costs are recognized over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. RSUs have a service requirement typically over a 3.5 years vesting schedule and vest in equal annual installments. We estimate forfeitures based on historical trends when recognizing compensation expense and adjust the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to differ or as forfeitures occur. Unvested RSUs accrue dividend equivalents at the same rate as are paid on our shares of Class A common stock. The dividend equivalents are subject to the same vesting schedule as the underlying RSUs.

During the first quarter of 2020, the Compensation Committee approved the grant of RSUs to eligible employees for an aggregate value of \$7,758. These awards vary from the typical RSU grant in that the awards vested immediately upon grant. The units associated with these awards are included in the table below.

The following table summarizes the RSU activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2020:

	Units	Weighted- Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2020	272,407	\$ 45.41
Granted	318,022	\$ 50.02
Vested	(309,562)	\$ 42.80
Forfeited	(25,435)	\$ 47.50
Dividend equivalents	3,368	\$ 48.79
Unvested at September 30, 2020	258,800	\$ 54.04

Performance Stock Units

The Company grants performance stock units ("PSUs") to officers and employees under the 2016 Plan. Stock-based compensation costs associated with our PSUs are initially determined using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the date the awards are approved by our Compensation Committee (service inception date). The vesting of these PSUs are subject to certain performance conditions and a service requirement of typically 3.5 years. Until the performance conditions are met, stock compensation costs associated with these PSUs are re-measured each reporting period based upon the fair market value of the Company's common stock and the estimated performance attainment on the reporting date. The ultimate number of PSUs that are issued to an employee is the result of the actual performance of the Company at the end of the performance period compared to the performance conditions. Stock compensation costs for our PSUs are recognized over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method, net of estimated forfeitures. We estimate forfeitures based on historical trends when recognizing compensation expense and adjust the estimate of forfeitures when they are expected to differ or as forfeitures occur. Unvested PSUs accrue dividend equivalents once the performance conditions are met at the same rate as are paid on our shares of Class A common stock. The dividend equivalents are subject to the same vesting schedule as the underlying PSUs.

During the third quarter of 2020, the Compensation Committee approved an agreement to grant PSUs to an executive management member for an aggregate value of \$15,000. This award varies from the typical PSU grant in that the award vests in two tranches of 40%, and 60%, during the years 2022 and 2025, respectively. This agreement provides for two awards, the first totaling \$6,000 with performance conditions tied to results through September 2022, and the second totaling \$9,000 with performance conditions tied to results through September 2025.

The Company began expensing the second award of \$9,000 concurrent with the first award beginning on the service inception date in August 2020. There are no units associated with the second award in the table below as of September 30, 2020 since the initial target number of shares will be determined in 2022 based on the terms of the award.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

The following table summarizes the PSU activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2020:

Units Fair Value Unvested at January 1, 2020 721,398 67.97 Granted 407,732 40.47 Achievement adjustment (40,509) 44.50 Vested (347,867) 59.88 Forfeited (115,835) 61.05 Dividend equivalents 4,395 66.54 Unvested at September 30, 2020 629,314 52.71			Weighted- Average Grant-Date
Granted 407,732 \$ 40.47 Achievement adjustment (40,509) \$ 44.50 Vested (347,867) \$ 59.88 Forfeited (115,835) \$ 61.05 Dividend equivalents 4,395 \$ 66.54		Units	 Fair Value
Achievement adjustment (40,509) \$ 44.50 Vested (347,867) \$ 59.88 Forfeited (115,835) \$ 61.05 Dividend equivalents 4,395 \$ 66.54	Unvested at January 1, 2020	721,398	\$ 67.97
Vested (347,867) \$ 59.88 Forfeited (115,835) \$ 61.05 Dividend equivalents 4,395 \$ 66.54	Granted	407,732	\$ 40.47
Forfeited (115,835) \$ 61.05 Dividend equivalents 4,395 \$ 66.54	Achievement adjustment	(40,509)	\$ 44.50
Dividend equivalents <u>4,395</u> \$ 66.54	Vested	(347,867)	\$ 59.88
	Forfeited	(115,835)	\$ 61.05
Unvested at September 30, 2020 <u>629,314</u> \$ 52.71	Dividend equivalents	4,395	\$ 66.54
	Unvested at September 30, 2020	629,314	\$ 52.71

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we granted 155,872 PSUs, which were subject to performance conditions. During the first quarter of 2020, it was determined that the performance conditions related to these PSUs were partially met, which resulted in an achievement adjustment decrease of 40,509 PSUs in 2020 relating to the initial 2019 PSU grant.

Performance Stock Units with a Market Condition Tied to Relative Total Shareholder Return

In March 2018, the Compensation Committee approved certain agreements to grant PSUs with a market condition ("PSU-TSRs") where vesting is conditioned upon the total shareholder return performance of the Company's stock relative to the performance of a peer group over five distinct performance periods from 2018 through 2024. Each fixed performance period begins in March 2018, but has an increasing performance period duration. The five distinct performance periods end in March from 2020 to 2024, with the awards for each performance period vesting in July of each year. The payout for each performance period can vest at between 50% and 175% of the target award based on the percentile ranking of WWE's total shareholder return performance with vesting capped at 100% if WWE's absolute total shareholder return is negative. The grant date fair value of the award was calculated using a Monte-Carlo simulation model which factors in the number of awards to be earned based on the achievement of the market condition. This model simulates the various stock price movements of the Company and peer group companies using certain assumptions, including the stock price of WWE and those of the peer group, stock price volatility, the risk-free interest rate, correlation coefficients, and expected dividend yield. The grant date fair value of the award is being amortized as compensation cost over the requisite service period using the graded vesting method.

The following table summarizes the PSU-TSR activity during the nine months ended September 30, 2020:

	Units	Weighted- Average Grant-Date Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 2020	340,971	\$ 47.42
Granted	_	\$ _
Achievement adjustment	7,672	\$ 47.30
Vested	(17,951)	\$ 46.26
Forfeited	(272,777)	\$ 47.96
Dividend equivalents	50	\$ 47.30
Unvested at September 30, 2020	57,965	\$ 47.30

During the first quarter of 2020, it was determined that the percentile ranking of WWE's total shareholder return performance related to the first performance period were met, which resulted in an achievement adjustment increase of 7,672 PSU-TSRs in 2020 relating to the initial 2018 PSU-TSR grant.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

	 As of					
	September 30, 2020		December 31, 2019			
Land, buildings and improvements	\$ 163,884	\$	163,202			
Equipment	143,659		139,137			
Corporate aircraft	32,249		32,249			
Vehicles	1,030		1,030			
Projects in progress	 13,223		16,931			
	354,045		352,549			
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization	 (189,728)		(177,797)			
Total	\$ 164,317	\$	174,752			

Depreciation expense for property and equipment totaled \$9,599 and \$9,287, and \$28,876 and \$21,056 for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

8. Leases

Information about the Nature of WWE's Lease Portfolio

As of September 30, 2020, the Company's lease portfolio consists of operating and finance real estate leases for its sales offices, performance centers, warehouses and corporate related facilities. In addition, we have various live event production service arrangements that contain operating and finance equipment leases. With the exception of our new global headquarters lease that commenced on July 1, 2019 with an 18-month free rent period followed by an initial base term of 15 years with options to renew, our other real estate leases have remaining lease terms of approximately one year to eight years, some of which may also include options to extend the leases. Our equipment leases, which are included as part of various operating service arrangements, generally have remaining lease terms of approximately one year to six years. Generally, no covenants are imposed by our lease agreements.

Key Estimates and Judgments

Key estimates and judgments made in applying the lease accounting rules include how the Company determines (i) the discount rate it uses to discount the unpaid lease payments to present value, (ii) lease term and (iii) lease payments. ASC 842 requires a lessee to discount its unpaid lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, its incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease and therefore uses the incremental borrowing rate for its leases. The incremental borrowing rate reflects the rate of interest that the Company would pay on a collateralized basis to borrow an amount equal to the lease payments under similar terms. The incremental borrowing rates were generally determined by estimating the appropriate collateralized borrowing rates to be used for our leases and considered certain factors including, the lease term, economic environment and the assumed credit rating profile of the Company. The lease term for all of the Company's lease arrangements include the noncancelable period of the lease plus, if applicable, any additional periods covered by an option to extend the lease that is reasonably certain to be exercised by the Company.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Quantitative Disclosures Related to Leases

The following table provides quantitative disclosure about the Company's operating and financing leases for the periods presented:

	Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,			
		2020		2019		2020		2019
<u>Lease costs</u>								
Finance lease costs:								
Amortization of right-of-use assets	\$	5,282	\$	4,283	\$	15,199	\$	8,275
Interest on lease liabilities		4,620		4,227		13,622		5,766
Operating lease costs		1,371		2,114		4,335		6,716
Other short-term and variable lease costs		372		154		1,242		1,457
Sublease income (1)				(22)		(16)		(54)
Total lease costs	\$	11,645	\$	10,756	\$	34,382	\$	22,160
	<u> </u>							
Other information								
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:								
Operating cash flows from finance leases	\$	327	\$	142	\$	902	\$	489
Operating cash flows from operating leases	\$	1,147	\$	1,678	\$	3,694	\$	6,093
Finance cash flows from finance leases	\$	2,798	\$	2,109	\$	8,197	\$	6,218
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new finance lease liabilities	\$	7,026	\$	286,086	\$	40,212	\$	286,086
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities	\$	_	\$	2,365	\$	2,586	\$	5,608
		A	s of					
		Septen	nber 3	30,				
		2020		2019				
Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases		28.6 years		29.4 years				
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases		4.4 years		4.5 years				
Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases		4.8%		4.8%				
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases		4.3%		4.6%				

(1) Sublease income excludes rental income from owned properties.

Maturity of lease liabilities as of September 30, 2020 were as follows:

		Operating	Finance
		Leases	 Leases
2020	\$	964	\$ 2,957
2021		4,898	29,156
2022		3,791	28,865
2023		2,216	28,349
2024		1,749	26,255
Thereafter		2,695	642,771
Total lease payment		16,313	758,353
Less: imputed interest		(1,596)	(370,328)
Total future minimum lease payments	<u>\$</u>	14,717	\$ 388,025

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

9. Content Production Assets, Net

Accounting Policy on Content Production Assets

The Company is primarily a content producer with content production assets consisting of feature films, non-live event episodic television series, and original programming content for our WWE Network. Feature film titles are predominantly monetized on their own through exploitation and exhibition through individual film distribution arrangements or by sale to a third party. The non-live event episodic television series are predominantly monetized on their own through individual television distribution arrangements. The original WWE Network programming content are predominantly monetized as a film group through the collection of monthly subscription fees from the WWE Network.

Amounts capitalized for content production assets typically include development costs, production costs, production overhead, and employee salaries and are net of any film production incentives associated with our feature films. Content production assets related to our feature films are amortized in the proportion that revenues bear to management's estimates of the ultimate revenue expected to be recognized from exploitation, exhibition or sale. Content production assets related to non-live event episodic television series are expensed upon delivery of the completed programming content to the individual television distributors. Our programming content distributed on our subscription-based WWE Network is expensed based upon viewership consumption patterns.

Unamortized content production costs are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a film predominantly monetized on its own or a film group may be less than its unamortized costs. As it relates to our unamortized feature film production assets, if estimates for a feature film's ultimate revenues and/or costs are revised and indicate a significant decline in a film's profitability or if events or circumstances change that indicate we should assess whether the fair value of a film is less than its unamortized film costs, we calculate the film's estimated fair value using a discounted cash flows model. If fair value is less than the unamortized cost, the film is written down to fair value. Our estimate of ultimate revenues for feature films includes revenues from all sources for ten years from the date of a film's initial release. We estimate the ultimate revenues based on industry and Company specific trends, the historical performance of similar films, the star power of the lead actors, and the genre of the film. Prior to the release of a feature film and throughout its life, we revise our estimates of revenues based on expected future results, actual results and other known factors affecting the various distribution markets. As it relates to our unamortized non-live event episodic television series content assets, if conditions indicate a potential impairment, and the estimated future cash flows using a discounted cash flow model are not sufficient to recover the unamortized asset, the asset is written down to fair value. As it relates to our unamortized original WWE Network programming content assets, which are predominantly monetized as film group, we review in aggregate at a group level when an event or change in circumstances indicates a change in the expected usefulness of the content or that the fair value may be less than unamortized cost. In addition, if we determine that a program will not likely air, we expense the remaining unamortized asset

Other Content Production Asset Information

Content production assets consisted of the following:

	Predominantly Monetized Individually As of				_	Predominantly Monetized as a Film Group As of					
		September 30, 2020		December 31, 2019		September 30, 2020		December 31, 2019			
In release	\$	6,286	\$	8,735	\$	365	\$	580			
Completed but not released		1,984		8		274		163			
In production		12,095		9,978		199		378			
In development		246		203		_		_			
Total	\$	20,611	\$	18,924	\$	838	\$	1,121			

As of September 30, 2020, all of the "completed but not released" content assets that are monetized individually are estimated to be amortized over the next 12 months and approximately 66% of the "in release" content assets monetized individually are estimated to be amortized over the next three years.

As of September 30, 2020, all of the "completed but not released" content assets and "in release" content assets monetized as a film group are estimated to be amortized over the next 12 months.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Amortization and impairment of content production assets consisted of the following:

	Three Months Ended September 30,					nded 0,		
		2020		2019	2020			2019
Content production amortization expense - assets monetized individually	\$	1,829	\$	11,248	\$	11,254	\$	22,136
Content production amortization expense - assets monetized as a film group		732		766		2,856		3,989
Content production impairment charges (1)		250		759		671		1,203
Content production development write-offs (2)		122		93		122		200
Total amortization and impairment of content production assets	\$	2,933	\$	12,866	\$	14,903	\$	27,528

- (1) Unamortized content production assets are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the fair value of a film predominantly monetized on its own or a film group may be less than its unamortized costs. If conditions indicate a potential impairment, and the estimated future cash flows are not sufficient to recover the unamortized asset, the asset is written down to fair value. In addition, if we determine that content will not likely air, we will expense the remaining unamortized asset.
- (2) Capitalized script development costs are evaluated at each reporting period for impairment and to determine if a project is deemed to be abandoned.

Amortization and impairment expenses related to content production assets are included in the Company's Media segment, and as a component of Operating expenses on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Costs to produce our live event programming are expensed immediately when the event is first broadcast and are not included in the content asset amortization amounts above.

10. Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments

Investment Securities

Included within Investment Securities are the following:

		As of					
	Sep	otember 30,	December 31,				
		2020	2019				
Equity method investments	\$	5,540	\$	14,342			
Nonmarketable equity investments without readily determinable fair values		9,807		13,359			
Marketable equity investments with readily determinable fair values		15,868		405			
Total investment securities	\$	31,215	\$	28,106			

Equity Method Investments

Our equity method investments relate primarily to an investment in an apparel and lifestyle brand. To the extent the investees record income or losses, the Company records our share proportionate to our ownership percentage, and any dividends received reduce the carrying value amount of the investments. Net equity method earnings from our equity method investments are included as a component of Other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Net dividends received from our equity method investments are reflected on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows within Net cash provided by operating activities.

We evaluate our equity method investments for impairment when events indicate that the fair value of the investments may be below the carrying value. When such a condition is deemed to be other than temporary, the carrying value of the investment is written down to its fair value. During the first quarter of 2020, the Company recorded an impairment charge of \$8,828 on our equity method investments for the excess of the carrying value over its estimated fair value as a result of our impairment evaluation. We determined fair value using a discounted cash flow model using recent forecasts from the investee, which indicated a decline in the value of the investment. The decline in value is due to the significant adverse impact on retail market conditions caused by COVID-19 combined with lower sales forecasts. This impairment charge is included as a component of Other (expense) income, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company did not record any impairment charges related to our equity method investments during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

The following table presents the net equity method earnings from our equity method investments and net dividends received from our equity method investments for the periods presented:

	Three Months Ended September 30,				 Nine Months Ended September 30,		
	2020 2019			2020		2019	
Net equity method earnings	\$	181	\$	213	\$ 607	\$	630
Net dividends received		(621)		(352)	(796)		(770)
Equity in earnings of affiliate, net of dividends received	\$	(440)	\$	(139)	\$ (189)	\$	(140)

Nonmarketable Equity Investments Without Readily Determinable Fair Values

We evaluate our nonmarketable equity investments without readily determinable fair values for impairment if factors indicate that a significant decrease in value has occurred. The Company has elected to use the measurement alternative to fair value that will allow these investments to be recorded at cost, less impairment, and adjusted for subsequent observable price changes.

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company recorded an impairment charge of \$2,715 on our investment in a themed attraction touring company for the excess of the carrying value over its estimated fair value as a result of our impairment evaluation. This evaluation indicated a decline in the value of the investment due largely to significant adverse changes in the economic and market conditions caused by COVID-19. This impairment charge is included as a component of Other (expense) income, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The Company did not record any impairment charges on these investments during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019. In addition, there were no observable price change events that were completed during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

Marketable Equity Investments With Readily Determinable Fair Values

One of our nonmarketable equity investments, DraftKings Inc, ("DraftKings"), an online fantasy sports and betting platform, completed a business combination and became a publicly traded company with its common stock traded on the NASDAQ under the symbol DKNG starting on April 24, 2020. As a result of the business combination, WWE received common stock of the new publicly traded DraftKings company in exchange for its common shares WWE owned in the investee. The lock-up period on the common shares expired on October 20, 2020.

As of September 30, 2020, our investment portfolio includes two investments in marketable equity securities of publicly traded companies, both of which trade on the NASDAQ. The Company accounts for these equity investments in the common stock of Phunware Inc. ("Phunware"), a software application developer, and DraftKings, as marketable equity investments with readily determinable fair values based on quoted prices on the NASDAQ. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recorded a net unrealized gain of \$6,656 and \$14,426, respectively, associated with these two investments based on the closing prices of the investee companies as of the last trading day of the period. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company recorded an unrealized holding loss of \$568 and \$4,359, respectively, associated with Phunware, based on the closing price of the investee company as of the last trading day of the period. Unrealized holding gains and losses are included as a component of Other (expense) income, net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. As the underlying stock prices of DraftKings and Phunware fluctuate, WWE is exposed to future earnings volatility to the extent WWE continues to hold these investments.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments consist of available-for-sale debt securities which are measured at fair value and consisted of the following:

	As of September 30, 2020						As of	Decemb	per 31, 2019	
		_	Gross Unre	alized			G	ross Uni	realized	
	A	mortized			Fair	Amortized				Fair
		Cost	Gain	(Loss)	Value	Cost	Gain	<u> </u>	(Loss)	Value
U.S. Treasury securities	\$	46,045 \$	34 \$	— \$	46,079	\$ 32,124	\$	27 \$	\$ (13) \$	32,138
Corporate bonds		60,853	105	(2)	60,956	120,012		89	(74)	120,027
Municipal bonds		_	_	_	_	2,165		—	_	2,165
Government agency bonds		11,695	60		11,755	5,693		11	<u> </u>	5,704
Total	\$	118,593 \$	199 \$	(2) \$	118,790	\$ 159,994	\$	127 5	§ (87) <u>\$</u>	160,034

The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-13, "Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments" on January 1, 2020 and applied the new modified credit impairment guidance related to available-for-sale debt securities prospectively. Under the new guidance, at each reporting date, entities must evaluate their individual available-for-sale debt securities that are in an unrealized loss position and determine whether the decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis results from a credit loss or other factors. The amount of the decline related to credit losses are recorded as a credit loss expense in earnings with a corresponding allowance for credit losses and the amount of the decline not related to credit losses are recorded through other comprehensive income, net of tax. As of September 30, 2020, the aggregate total amount of unrealized losses (that is, the amount by which amortized cost basis exceeds fair value) was \$2, or less than 1% of the total amortized costs basis of the entire available-for-sale debt portfolio. We did not record an allowance for credit losses on these securities. Accordingly, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020, the entire amount of the decline in fair value below the amortized cost basis was recorded as an unrealized loss, net of tax, in other comprehensive loss in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income. Unrealized gains are also reflected, net of tax, as other comprehensive income (loss) in the Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income.

Our U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bonds are included in Short-term investments, net on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Realized gains and losses on investments are included in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities sold.

As of September 30, 2020, contractual remaining maturities of these securities are as follows:

	Maturities
U.S. Treasury securities	1 month - 1 year
Corporate bonds	1 month - 3 years
Municipal bonds	N/A
Government agency bonds	1 month - 1 year

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, we recognized \$270 and \$1,012, and \$1,683 and \$3,805, respectively, of interest income on our short-term investments. Interest income is reflected as a component of Other income, net within our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

The following table summarizes the short-term investment activity:

	Three Mor	nths E	Inded		Nine Months Ended				
	 September 30,			September 30,					
	2020		2019		2020		2019		
Proceeds from sales and maturities of short-term investments	\$ 37,731	\$	54,414	\$	105,416	\$	113,262		
Purchases of short-term investments	\$ 33,303	\$	11,221	\$	64,290	\$	74,868		

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

11. Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is determined based on the exchange price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The accounting guidance establishes a three-level hierarchy that ranks the quality and reliability of information used in developing fair value estimates. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets and the lowest priority to unobservable data. In cases where two or more levels of inputs are used to determine fair value, a financial instrument's level is determined based on the lowest level input that is considered significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The three input levels of the fair value hierarchy are summarized as follows:

- Level 1- Observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
- Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities that are directly or indirectly observable; or
- Level 3- Unobservable inputs, such as discounted cash flow models or valuations, in which little or no market data exists.

Certain financial instruments are carried at cost on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, which approximates fair value due to their short-term, highly liquid nature. The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, money market accounts, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value because of the short-term nature of such instruments.

We have classified our investment in U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bonds, which collectively are investments in available-for-sale debt securities, within Level 2, as their valuation requires quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active and/or model-based valuation techniques for which all significant inputs are observable in the market or can be corroborated by observable market data. The U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds and government agency bonds are valued based on model-driven valuations. A third-party service provider assists the Company with compiling market prices from a variety of industry standard data sources, security master files from large financial institutions and other third-party sources that are used to value our corporate bond, U.S. Treasury securities, municipal bond and government agency bond investments. The Company did not have any transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 fair value investments during the periods presented.

The fair value measurements of our equity investments without readily determinable fair values and our equity method investments are classified within Level 3 as significant unobservable inputs are used as part of the determination of fair value. Significant unobservable inputs may include variables such as near-term prospects of the investees, recent financing activities of the investees, and the investees' capital structure, as well as other economic variables, which reflect assumptions market participants would use in pricing these assets. For our equity investments without readily determinable fair values, the Company has elected to use the measurement alternative to fair value that will allow these investments to be recorded at cost, less impairment, and adjusted for subsequent observable price changes. During the first quarter of 2020, the Company recorded impairment charges of \$8,828 and \$2,715 on our equity method investments and nonmarketable equity investments, respectively, as a result of our impairment evaluations. Refer to Note 10, *Investment Securities and Short-Term Investments*, for further discussion

The Company's long-lived property and equipment and content production assets are required to be measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis if it is determined that indicators of impairment exist. These assets are recorded at fair value only when an impairment is recognized. The Company did not record any impairment charges on long lived property and equipment during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019. The Company classifies these assets as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy due to significant unobservable inputs.

During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded impairment charges of \$671 and \$1,203 on content production assets based upon fair value measurements of \$772 and \$943, respectively. Refer to Note 9, *Content Production Assets, Net*, for further discussion. The Company classifies these assets as Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy due to significant unobservable inputs. The Company utilizes a discounted cash flows model to determine the fair value of content production assets where indicators of impairment exist.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

The fair value of the Company's debt, consisting of a mortgage loan assumed in connection with a building purchase and borrowings under the Company's Revolving Credit Facility, is estimated based upon quoted price estimates for similar debt arrangements. At September 30, 2020, the carrying amount of the mortgage loan and the revolving credit facility borrowing approximates their fair value.

The convertible debt is not marked to fair value at the end of each reporting period, but instead is reported at amortized cost. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the calculation of the fair value of the debt component of the Company's convertible debt required the use of Level 3 inputs, and was determined by calculating the fair value of similar debt without the associated conversion feature based on market conditions at that time:

	 Septembe	er 30	, 2020	Decembe	r 31	, 2019
	Fair Value		Carrying Value (1)	Fair Value		Carrying Value (1)
Convertible senior notes	\$ 206,391	\$	196,140	\$ 207,338	\$	192,262

(1) The carrying value of the convertible debt instrument presented in the table above represents the face value of the convertible note less unamortized debt discount.

12. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:

		As of
	September 30,	December 31,
	2020	2019
Trade related	\$ 7,145	\$ 9,282
Staff related (1)	19,646	8,651
Management incentive compensation	13,194	6,481
Talent related	4,464	8,184
Accrued WWE Network related expenses	4,962	5,510
Accrued event and television production	13,320	16,627
Accrued legal and professional	4,267	5,716
Accrued purchases of property and equipment	2,658	4,997
Accrued film liability	6,270	5,986
Accrued other	10,390	9,158
Total	\$ 86,316	\$ 80,592

(1) Staff related includes accruals related to severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.

Accrued other includes accruals for our international and licensing business activities, as well as other miscellaneous accruals, none of which categories individually exceeds 5% of current liabilities.

13. Convertible Debt

In December 2016 and January 2017, we issued \$215,000 aggregate principal amount of 3.375% convertible senior notes due 2023 (the "Convertible Notes"). The Convertible Notes are due December 15, 2023, unless earlier repurchased by us or converted. Interest is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2017.

The Convertible Notes are governed by an Indenture between us, as issuer, and U.S. Bank, National Association, as trustee. The Convertible Notes will be our general unsecured obligations and will rank senior in right of payment to any of our indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Convertible Notes; equal in right of payment to any of our unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively junior in right of payment to any of our secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the assets securing such indebtedness; and structurally junior to all indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of our subsidiaries. In the event of our bankruptcy, liquidation, reorganization or other winding up, our assets that secure secured debt will be

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

available to pay obligations on the Convertible Notes only after all indebtedness under such secured debt has been repaid in full from such assets.

Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, we will pay or deliver, as the case may be, cash, shares of our Class A common stock or a combination of cash and shares of Class A common stock, at our election, at a conversion rate of approximately 40.1405 shares of common stock per \$1 principal amount of the Convertible Notes, which corresponds to an initial conversion price of approximately \$24.91 per share of our Class A common stock. At any time, prior to the close on the business day immediately preceding June 15, 2023, the Convertible Notes will be convertible under the following circumstances:

- a) During any calendar quarter beginning after the calendar quarter ending on December 31, 2016 (and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding quarter is greater than or equal to 130% of the conversion price on each applicable trading day;
- b) During the 5 business day period after any 10 consecutive trading day period (the "measurement period") in which the trading price per \$1 principal amount of Convertible Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock and the conversion rate on each such trading day;
- c) Upon the occurrence of specified corporate events; or
- d) On or after June 15, 2023 until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders may convert all or any portion of their Convertible Notes, in multiples of \$1 principal amount, at the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing circumstances.

Pursuant to item (a) noted above, the Convertible Notes have been convertible since April 1, 2018, and holders of the Convertible Notes have the right to convert their notes at any time through at least December 31, 2020. As of September 30, 2020, since the Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holders, the Convertible Notes are reflected in current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. As of September 30, 2020, no actual conversions have occurred to date. See Note 5, *Earnings (Loss) Per Share*, for a description of the dilutive nature of the Convertible Notes.

As a result of our cash conversion option, we separately accounted for the value of the embedded conversion option as a debt discount at its issuance date estimated fair value. The debt discount is amortized as additional non-cash interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes using the effective interest method. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. In accounting for the transaction costs related to the Note issuances, we allocated the total amount of offering costs incurred to the debt and equity components based on their relative values. Offering costs attributable to the debt component are amortized as non-cash interest expense over the term of the Convertible Notes. Offering costs attributable to the equity component were netted with the equity component in stockholders' equity.

The Convertible Notes consisted of the following components:

	As of			
	September 30,			December 31,
		2020		2019
Debt component:				
Principal	\$	215,000	\$	215,000
Less: Unamortized debt discount		(18,860)		(22,738)
Less: Unamortized debt issuance costs		(2,991)		(3,595)
Net carrying amount	\$	193,149	\$	188,667
Equity component (1)	\$	35,547	\$	35,547

(1) Recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets within additional paid-in capital.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

The following table sets forth total interest expense recognized related to the Convertible Notes:

	 Three Months Ended September 30,				Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2020		2019		2020		2019	
3.375% contractual coupon	\$ 1,814	\$	1,814	\$	5,442	\$	5,442	
Amortization of debt discount	1,313		1,232		3,878		3,638	
Amortization of debt issuance costs	195		174		604		508	
Additional interest on Convertible Notes (1)	_		_		_		1,370	
Interest expense	\$ 3,322	\$	3,220	\$	9,924	\$	10,958	

(1) During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, additional nonrecurring interest expense was incurred pursuant to the notes' indenture related to the removal of the restrictive legend and assignment of the unrestricted CUSIP on the Convertible Notes.

Convertible Note Hedge

In connection with the pricing of the Convertible Notes in December 2016 and January 2017, we entered into convertible note hedge transactions with respect to our Class A common stock (the "Note Hedge"). The Note Hedge transactions cover approximately 8.63 million shares of our Class A common stock and are exercisable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes. The Note Hedge will expire on December 15, 2023, unless earlier terminated. The Note Hedge transactions have been accounted for as part of additional paid-in capital.

Warrant Transactions

In connection with entering into the Note Hedge transactions described above, we also concurrently entered into separate warrant transactions (the "Warrants"), to sell warrants to acquire approximately 8.63 million shares of our Class A common stock in connection with the Note Hedge transactions at an initial strike price of approximately \$31.89 per share, which represents a premium of approximately 60.0% over the last reported sale price of our Class A common stock of \$19.93 on December 12, 2016 (initial issuance date of the Convertible Notes). The Warrants transactions have been accounted for as part of additional paid-in capital.

14. Long-Term Debt and Credit Facility

Included within Long-Term Debt are the following:

		As of		
	Sej	September 30, 2020		December 31, 2019
Current portion of long-term debt:				
Revolving Credit Facility	\$	200,000	\$	_
Aircraft financing		_		3,218
Mortgage		407		395
Total current portion of long-term debt	\$	200,407	\$	3,613
Long-term debt:				
Mortgage	\$	21,801	\$	22,098
Total long-term debt	\$	21,801	\$	22,098
Total	\$	222,208	\$	25,711

Revolving Credit Facility

On May 24, 2019, the Company entered into an amended and restated \$200,000 senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a syndicated group of banks, with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as Administrative Agent (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). The Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of May 24, 2024. Applicable interest rates for the borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility are based on the Company's current consolidated leverage ratio. As of September 30, 2020, our weighted-average LIBOR-based rate plus margin was 1.654%. The Company is required to pay a commitment fee calculated at a rate per annum of 0.175% on the average daily unused portion of the Revolving Credit Facility. Under the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility, the Company is subject

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

to certain financial covenants and restrictions, including restrictions on our ability to pay dividends and limitations with respect to our indebtedness, liens, mergers and acquisitions, dispositions of assets, investments, capital expenditures and transactions with affiliates.

On April 16, 2020, as a precautionary measure to further strengthen liquidity due to the impact of COVID-19, the Company borrowed \$200,000 under its Revolving Credit Facility As of September 30, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the terms of the Revolving Credit Facility and had no available debt capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, there was \$200,000 and \$0 outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility, respectively. As of September 30, 2020, the Company has the intent and ability to repay the amounts outstanding on the Revolving Credit Facility within one year, and as such, the outstanding balance has been classified as a current portion of long-term debt within our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Mortgage

In September 2016, the Company acquired real property and assumed future obligations under a loan agreement, dated June 8, 2015, in the principal amount of \$23,000, which loan is secured by a mortgage on the property. The loan bears interest at the rate of 4.50% per annum and requires monthly interest only payments of \$86 until June 2018 and interest and principal payments of \$117 per month thereafter, with a balloon payment upon maturity on July 5, 2025. There is a significant yield maintenance premium for prepayments. Pursuant to the loan agreement, since the assets of WWE Real Estate, a subsidiary of the Company, represent collateral for the underlying mortgage, these assets will not be available to satisfy debts and obligations due to any other creditors of the Company.

Aircraft Financing

In August 2013, the Company entered into a \$31,568 promissory note (the "Aircraft Note") with Citizens Asset Finance, Inc., for the purchase of a 2007 Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft and refurbishments. The Aircraft Note, which matured on August 7, 2020 and was fully repaid, had an interest rate of 2.18% per annum, and was payable in monthly installments of \$406, inclusive of interest.

15. Concentration of Credit Risk

We continually monitor our position with, and the credit quality of, the financial institutions that are counterparties to our financial instruments. Our accounts receivable relates principally to a limited number of distributors, including our WWE Network, television, pay-per-view distributors, and licensees. We closely monitor the status of receivables with these customers and maintain allowances for anticipated losses as deemed appropriate. We believe credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited due to the generally high credit quality of the Company's major customers. At September 30, 2020, there were no customers that individually exceeded 10% of our gross accounts receivable balance from customers was 49% of our gross accounts receivable. No other customers individually exceeded 10% of our gross accounts receivable balance.

16. Income Taxes

As of September 30, 2020, we had \$2,962 of deferred income tax liabilities, net, included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of Other non-current liabilities. As of December 31, 2019, we had \$7,217 of deferred tax assets, net, included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 we recognized \$246 and \$371, respectively, of excess tax expenses related to the Company's share-based compensation awards at vesting. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2019, we recognized \$8,051 and \$8,176, respectively, of excess tax benefits related to the Company's share-based compensation awards at vesting. Income tax effects of vested awards are included within the provision for income taxes on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. The tax expenses and benefits recorded are driven by the change in the Company's stock price between the original grant date of the awards and their subsequent vesting date. The corresponding offset of these tax expenses and benefits is included as a component of Prepaid expenses and other current assets within our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Discrete tax items, including the aforementioned excess tax expenses and benefits, resulted in a net tax benefit of \$72 and \$6,660, and \$35 and \$6,794, during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Excluding these items, our effective tax rate was 21% and 27%, and 22% and 25%, for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Company considers all available evidence, both positive and negative, to determine whether, based on the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required to reduce the net deferred tax assets to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized in future periods. The Company believes that based on past performance, expected future taxable income and prudent and feasible tax

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

planning strategies, it is more likely than not that the net deferred tax assets will be realized. Changes in these factors may cause us to increase our valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, which would impact our income tax expense in the period we determine that these factors have changed.

17. Content Production Incentives

The Company has access to various governmental programs that are designed to promote content production within the United States of America and certain international jurisdictions. Incentives earned with respect to expenditures on qualifying film production activities and capital projects are recorded as an offset to the related asset balances. Incentives earned with respect to television and other production activities are recorded as an offset to production expenses. The Company recognizes these benefits when we have reasonable assurance regarding the realizable amount of the incentives.

We recorded the following incentives during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019:

	Three Months Ended September 30,			Nine Months Ended September 30,			
		2020		2019	2020		2019
Television production incentives	\$	18,367	\$	12,498	\$ 18,367	\$	13,167
Feature film production incentives		_		66	_		263
Infrastructure improvement incentives on qualifying capital projects (1)		<u> </u>		<u> </u>	 <u> </u>		1,438
Total	\$	18,367	\$	12,564	\$ 18,367	\$	14,868

(1) Of this amount, \$794 was recorded as a reduction in property and equipment, with the remainder recorded as a reduction to depreciation expense.

18. Commitments and Contingencies

Our future commitments related to our operating and finance leases are separately disclosed in Note 8, Leases.

Legal Proceedings

On October 23, 2014, a lawsuit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the District of Oregon, entitled William Albert Haynes III, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. This complaint was amended on January 30, 2015 and alleged that the Company ignored, downplayed, and/or failed to disclose the risks associated with traumatic brain injuries suffered by WWE's performers and sought class action status. On March 31, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the first amended class action complaint in its entirety or, if not dismissed, to transfer the lawsuit to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut. Without addressing the merits of the Company's motion to dismiss, the Court transferred the case to Connecticut on June 25, 2015. The plaintiffs filed an objection to such transfer, which was denied on July 27, 2015. On January 16, 2015, a second lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, entitled Evan Singleton and Vito LoGrasso, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., alleging many of the same allegations as Haynes. On February 27, 2015, the Company moved to transfer venue to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut due to forum-selection clauses in the contracts between WWE and the plaintiffs and that motion was granted on March 23, 2015. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on May 22, 2015 and, following a scheduling conference in which the court ordered the plaintiffs to cure various pleading deficiencies, the plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint on June 15, 2015. On June 29, 2015, WWE moved to dismiss the second amended complaint in its entirety. On April 9, 2015, a third lawsuit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the Central District of California, entitled Russ McCullough, a/k/a "Big Russ McCullough," Ryan Sakoda, and Matthew R. Wiese a/k/a "Luther Reigns," individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., asserting similar allegations to Haynes. The Company again moved to transfer the lawsuit to Connecticut due to forumselection clauses in the contracts between WWE and the plaintiffs, which the California court granted on July 10, 2015. On September 21, 2015, the plaintiffs amended this complaint, and, on November 16, 2015, the Company moved to dismiss the amended complaint. Each of these suits sought unspecified actual. compensatory and punitive damages and injunctive relief, including ordering medical monitoring. The Haynes and McCullough cases purport to be class actions. On February 18, 2015, a lawsuit was filed in Tennessee state court and subsequently removed to the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Tennessee, entitled Cassandra Frazier, individually and as next of kin to her deceased husband, Nelson Lee Frazier, Jr., and as personal representative of the Estate of Nelson Lee Frazier, Jr. Deceased, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. A similar suit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas entitled Michelle James, as mother and next friend of Matthew Osborne, minor child, and Teagan Osborne, a minor child v. World

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. These lawsuits contain many of the same allegations as the other lawsuits alleging traumatic brain injuries and further allege that the injuries contributed to these former talents' deaths. WWE moved to transfer the Frazier and Osborne lawsuits to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut based on forum-selection clauses in the decedents' contracts with WWE, which motions were granted by the respective courts. On November 23, 2015, amended complaints were filed in Frazier and Osborne, which the Company moved to dismiss on December 16, 2015 and December 21, 2015, respectively. On November 10, 2016, the Court granted the Company's motions to dismiss the Frazier and Osborne lawsuits in their entirety. On June 29, 2015, the Company filed a declaratory judgment action in the U. S. District Court for the District of Connecticut entitled World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. v. Robert Windham, Thomas Billington, James Ware, Oreal Perras and various John and Jane Does seeking a declaration against these former performers that their threatened claims related to alleged traumatic brain injuries and/or other tort claims are time-barred. On September 21, 2015, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss this complaint, which the Company opposed. The Court previously ordered a stay of discovery in all cases pending decisions on the motions to dismiss. On January 15, 2016, the Court partially lifted the stay and permitted discovery only on three issues in the case involving Singleton and LoGrasso. Such discovery was completed by June 1, 2016. On March 21, 2016, the Court issued a memorandum of decision granting in part and denying in part the Company's motions to dismiss the Haynes, Singleton/LoGrasso, and McCullough lawsuits. The Court granted the Company's motions to dismiss the Haynes and McCullough lawsuits in their entirety and granted the Company's motion to dismiss all claims in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit except for the claim of fraud by omission. On March 22, 2016, the Court issued an order dismissing the Windham lawsuit based on the Court's memorandum of decision on the motions to dismiss. On April 4, 2016, the Company filed a motion for reconsideration with respect to the Court's decision not to dismiss the fraud by omission claim in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit and, on April 5, 2016, the Company filed a motion for reconsideration with respect to the Court dismissal of the Windham lawsuit. On July 21, 2016, the Court denied the Company's motion in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit and granted in part the Company's motion in the Windham lawsuit. On April 20, 2016, the plaintiffs filed notices of appeal of the Haynes and McCullough lawsuits. On April 27, 2016, the Company moved to dismiss the appeals for lack of appellate jurisdiction, which motions were granted, and the appeals were dismissed with leave to appeal upon the resolution of all of the consolidated cases. The Company filed a motion for summary judgment on the sole remaining claim in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit, which was granted on March 28, 2018. The Company also filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants. Lastly, on July 18, 2016, a lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut, entitled Joseph M. Laurinaitis, et al. vs. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and Vincent K. McMahon, individually and as the trustee of certain trusts. This lawsuit contains many of the same allegations as the other lawsuits alleging traumatic brain injuries and further alleges, among other things, that the plaintiffs were misclassified as independent contractors rather than employees denying them, among other things, rights and benefits under the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA), the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), federal tax law, and various state Worker's Compensation laws. This lawsuit also alleges that the booking contracts and other agreements between the plaintiffs and the Company are unconscionable and should be declared void, entitling the plaintiffs to certain damages relating to the Company's use of their intellectual property. The lawsuit alleges claims for violation of RICO, unjust enrichment, and an accounting against Mr. McMahon, The Company and Mr. McMahon moved to dismiss and for sanctions with respect to this complaint on October 19, 2016. On November 9, 2016, the Laurinaitis plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. On December 23, 2016, the Company and Mr. McMahon moved to dismiss and for sanctions with respect to the amended complaint. On September 29, 2017, the Court issued an order on the motion to dismiss pending in the Laurinaitis case and on the motion for judgment on the pleadings pending in the Windham case. The Court reserved judgment on the pending motions and ordered that within thirty-five (35) days of the date of the order the Laurinaitis plaintiffs and the Windham defendants file amended pleadings that comply with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The Court further ordered that each of the Laurinaitis plaintiffs and the Windham defendants submit to the Court for in camera review affidavits signed and sworn under penalty of perjury setting forth facts within each plaintiff's or declaratory judgmentdefendant's personal knowledge that form the factual basis of their claim or defense. On November 3, 2017, the Laurinaitis plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint. The Company and Mr. McMahon believe that the second amended complaint failed to comply with the Court's September 29, 2017 order and otherwise remained legally defective for all of the reasons set forth in their motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Also on November 3, 2017, the Windham defendants filed a second answer. On November 17, 2017, the Company and Mr. McMahon filed a response that, among other things, urged the Court to grant the motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants and dismiss the Laurinaitis plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice and award sanctions against the Laurinaitis plaintiffs' counsel because the amended pleadings failed to comply with the Court's September 29, 2017 order and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. On September 17, 2018, the Court granted the motion to dismiss filed by the Company and Mr. McMahon in the Laurinaitis case in its entirety, awarded sanctions against the Laurinaitis plaintiffs' counsel, and granted the Company's motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants. The plaintiffs attempted to appeal these decisions. On November 16, 2018, the Company moved to dismiss all of the appeals, except for the appeal of the dismissal of the Laurinaitis case, for being filed untimely. On April 4, 2019, the Second Circuit issued an order referring the Company's motions to dismiss to the panel that will determine the merits of the appeals. The plaintiffs-appellants' opening brief was filed on July 8, 2019. The Company and Mr. McMahon filed their appellees' brief on October 7, 2019. The plaintiffs-appellants filed a reply brief on October 28, 2019. The Second Circuit held oral argument on June 5, 2020. On September 9, 2020, the Second Circuit issued a summary order, dismissing the appeals of the sanctions orders and the merits appeals of the dismissal of all claims in the Haynes, McCullough, Frazier,

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data) (Unaudited)

and <u>Singleton</u> cases for lack of appellate jurisdiction and affirming the judgment of the district court on all other claims. On September 23, 2020, the plaintiffs-appellants filed a petition for rehearing/rehearing en banc, which was denied on October 15, 2020. The Company believes all claims and threatened claims against the Company in these various lawsuits were prompted by the same plaintiffs' lawyer and that all are without merit. The Company intends to continue to defend itself against the attempt to appeal these decisions vigorously.

On March 6, 2020, the Company along with its Chairman and CEO, Vince McMahon, and former-WWE officers and directors, Michelle Wilson and George Barrios (collectively, the "Individual Defendants"), were sued in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York in a case captioned City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., Vincent K. McMahon, George A. Barrios, and Michelle D. Wilson, No. 1:20-cv-02031-JSR. The complaint alleges that the Company and the Individual Defendants made materially false and misleading statements in violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regarding WWE's strategic relationship with the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Specifically, the complaint alleges that various public statements made by the Company and the Individual Defendants were false and misleading because they failed to disclose certain adverse facts regarding WWE's strategic relationship with Saudi Arabia that supposedly was known by them and, as a result, the plaintiff class allegedly purchased WWE stock at artificially inflated prices. On March 12, 2020 a nearly-identical lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York captioned Paul Szaniawski, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., Vincent K. McMahon, George A. Barrios, and Michelle D. Wilson, No. 1:20-cv-02223-JSR. This lawsuit was filed as related to the City of Warren case and was assigned to the same judge handling the City of Warren case. By Order dated May 12, 2020, the City of Warren and Szaniawski lawsuits were consolidated for all purposes. After multiple parties filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff for the putative class in the consolidated action, on May 22, 2020, the Court issued a memorandum order selecting the Firefighters' Pension System of the City of Kansas City, Missouri to be lead plaintiff and their attorneys, Labaton Sucharow LLP, to be lead counsel for the putative class. On May 26, 2020, the Company served Rule 11 motion for sanctions on the attorneys for the City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System, the attorneys for Paul Szaniawski, and Labaton Sucharow LLP. The Rule 11 motion identified false allegations in the originally filed complaints and was supported by six declarations from Company executives and third-parties with direct first-hand knowledge of the matters at issue. Following service of the Rule 11 motion, the attorneys for the City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System and the attorneys for Paul Szaniawski voluntarily dismissed their complaints before the expiration of the Rule 11 safe-harbor period. On June 8, 2020, the Firefighters' Pension System of the City of Kansas City, Missouri filed a consolidated amended class action complaint. On June 26, 2020, the Company moved to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint in its entirety. The Court held oral argument on the Company's motion to dismiss on July 30, 2020. On August 6, 2020, the Court denied the Company's motion to dismiss. On August 19, 2020, the Court issued a case management plan that, among other things, scheduled this case to be trial ready on February 22, 2021.

Additionally, three purported shareholder derivative suits have been filed against the members of the Company's Board of Directors patterned after the securities class action complaints filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. Merholz et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al, No. 3:20-cv-00557-VAB, was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut and assigned to the Honorable Victor A. Bolden. On May 29, 2020, the Defendants served Merholz's counsel with a Rule 11 motion that identified the false allegations in the complaint. On May 19, 2020, Merholz filed an amended complaint prior to the expiration of the Rule 11 safe-harbor period, which is substantially similar to the consolidated amended class action complaint filed in the securities class action. Because Merholz's amended complaint continued to assert allegations that were proven to be false by the Defendants' Rule 11 motion regarding the original complaint, the Defendants served Merholz's counsel with a Rule 11 motion regarding the amended complaint on July 2, 2020. On July 28, 2020, Merholz filed a second amended complaint. Kooi et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al., No. 3:20-cv-00743-VAB, was originally filed in Connecticut Superior Court and was removed by the Defendants to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on June 1, 2020. The Kooi lawsuit was deemed to be related to the Merholz lawsuit and transferred to Judge Bolden. On June 8, 2020, Kooi filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to state court. The Defendants filed its opposition to the motion to remand on June 29, 2020. Following Kooi's affirmation of the allegations of the complaint in federal court by filing the motion to remand, on June 12, 2020, the Defendants served Kooi's counsel with a Rule 11 motion similar to that served on counsel in the Merholz lawsuit. On July 3, 2020, Kooi filed an amended complaint that withdrew the false allegations identified in the Defendants' Rule 11 motion. Nordstrom et al., v. Vincent K. McMahon et al., No. 3:20-cv-00904-VAB, was originally filed in Connecticut Superior Court, and also removed by the Defendants to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on July 1, 2020. The Nordstrom lawsuit was deemed to be related to the Merholz and Kooi lawsuits and was also transferred to Judge Bolden. Following Nordstrom's affirmation of the allegations of the complaint in federal court, on July 24, 2020, the Defendants served Nordstrom's counsel with a Rule 11 motion similar to that served on counsel in the Merholz and Kooi lawsuits. On July 31, 2020, Nordstrom filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to state court, which the Defendants opposed. On August 14, 2020, Nordstrom filed an amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut. On July 2, 2020, the Defendants moved to consolidate the Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom lawsuits for all purposes. Following a status conference held on July 24, 2020, on August 1, 2020, the Court denied the Defendants' motion to consolidate without prejudice to renew following resolution of any motions to dismiss and motions to remand.

WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(In thousands, except share data)
(Unaudited)

The Defendants filed a consolidated motion to dismiss the complaints in the Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom lawsuits on August 28, 2020. Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom filed oppositions to the motion to dismiss on September 18, 2020 and the Defendants filed its reply on October 2, 2020. Oral argument on the motion to dismiss and motions to remand is scheduled for October 29, 2020. On October 23, 2020, another shareholder, Dennis Palkon, moved to intervene in the proceedings before Judge Bolden, to have his counsel appointed as lead counsel, to designate the proposed complaint that he filed with his motion to intervene as the operative compliant, and to deny as moot Defendants' pending motions to dismiss in light of the newly-filed complaint. The Company believes all claims in the securities class action and related derivative actions are without merit, and intends to defend itself and the members of the Board of Directors vigorously against them

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time we become a party to other lawsuits and claims. By its nature, the outcome of litigation is not known, but the Company does not currently expect this ordinary course litigation to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

19. Stockholders' Equity

On February 7, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to \$500,000 of our common stock. Repurchases may be made from time to time at management's discretion subject to certain pre-approved parameters and in accordance with all applicable securities and other laws and regulations. The stock repurchase program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any minimum dollar amount or number of shares and may be modified, suspended or discontinued at any time.

The Company did not repurchase any shares of common stock in the open market during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020. During the three months ended September 30, 2019, the Company repurchased 110,228 shares of common stock in the open market at an average price of \$68.33 for an aggregate amount of \$7,531. During the nine months ended September 30, 2019, the Company repurchased 122,630 shares of common stock in the open market at an average price of \$68.94 for an aggregate amount of \$8,452. All share repurchases have been retired. As of September 30, 2020, \$416,559 of common stock may be repurchased under the stock repurchase program announced on February 7, 2019.

20. Related Party Transactions

As previously disclosed, in April 2018, the Company entered into a support services agreement with Alpha Entertainment, LLC ("Alpha"), an entity controlled by Vincent K. McMahon, for certain administrative support services with such services billed to Alpha on a cost-plus margin basis. On April 13, 2020, Alpha filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy, and this agreement was subsequently amended and assigned to Alpha's successor. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company billed Alpha \$57 and \$590, and \$1,006 and \$2,744, respectively, for services rendered under the support services agreement. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had \$531 and \$236, respectively, of current receivables for amounts billed to Alpha.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

You should read the following discussion in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in this report.

Our operations are organized around the following principal activities:

Media:

• The Media segment reflects the production and monetization of long-form and short-form video content across various platforms, including WWE Network, pay television, digital and social media, as well as filmed entertainment. Across these platforms, revenues principally consist of content rights fees associated with the distribution of our programming content, subscriptions to WWE Network, and advertising and sponsorships.

Live Events:

 Live events provide ongoing content for our media platforms. Live Event segment revenues consist primarily of ticket sales, including primary and secondary distribution, revenues from events for which we receive a fixed fee, as well as the sale of travel packages associated with the Company's global live events.

Consumer Products:

• The Consumer Products segment engages in the merchandising of WWE branded products, such as video games, toys and apparel, through licensing arrangements and direct-to-consumer sales. Revenues principally consist of royalties and licensee fees related to WWE branded products, and sales of merchandise distributed at our live events and through eCommerce platforms.

Results of Operation

The Company presents Adjusted OIBDA as the primary measure of segment profit (loss). The Company defines Adjusted OIBDA as operating income before depreciation and amortization, excluding stock-based compensation, certain impairment charges and other non-recurring material items. Adjusted OIBDA includes depreciation and amortization expenses directly related to supporting the operations of our segments, including content production asset amortization, depreciation and amortization of costs related to content delivery and technology assets utilized for our WWE Network, as well as amortization of right-of-use assets related to finance leases of equipment used to produce and broadcast our live events. The Company believes the presentation of Adjusted OIBDA is relevant and useful for investors because it allows investors to view our segment performance in the same manner as the primary method used by management to evaluate segment performance and make decisions about allocating resources. Additionally, we believe that Adjusted OIBDA is a primary measure used by media investors, analysts and peers for comparative purposes.

Adjusted OIBDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and may be different than similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures used by other companies. A limitation of Adjusted OIBDA is that it excludes depreciation and amortization, which represents the periodic charge for certain fixed assets and intangible assets used in our business. Additionally, Adjusted OIBDA excludes stock-based compensation, a non-cash expense that may vary between periods with limited correlation to underlying operating performance, as well as other non-recurring material items. Adjusted OIBDA should not be regarded as an alternative to operating income or net income as an indicator of operating performance, or to the statement of cash flows as a measure of liquidity, nor should it be considered in isolation or as a substitute for financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP. We believe that operating income is the most directly comparable GAAP financial measure to Adjusted OIBDA. See Note 3, Segment Information, in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a reconciliation of Adjusted OIBDA to operating income for the periods presented.

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate functions such as finance, legal, human resources, facilities and information technology. These unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses will be shown, as applicable, as a reconciling item in tables where segment and consolidated results are both shown.

Summary

In December 2019, an outbreak of a new strain of coronavirus ("COVID-19") began in Wuhan, Hubei Province, China. In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 a pandemic. The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted global supply chains and created significant volatility and disruption of financial markets. COVID-19 has resulted in restrictions, postponements and cancellations of various events, such as the relocation of *WrestleMania 36* and the cancellation of ticketed events due to public health concerns. The impact of COVID-19 to our 2020 results had a greater impact on our live events and consumer products segments, which are highly dependent on ticket sales and purchases of merchandise by consumers at our live events. Our Media segment was impacted to a lesser extent since a large portion of these revenues are derived from contractual rights fees from our domestic and international distribution arrangements. We continue to deliver the weekly wrestling content associated with these arrangements (e.g. *RAW*, *SmackDown* and *NXT*) without ticketed audiences. We will monitor the developments of COVID-19 and actively manage our business to respond to the potential impacts. Additionally, please refer to Part II, Item 1A, *Risk Factors*, which provides a discussion of risk factors related to COVID-19.

Three Months Ended

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2019 (dollars in millions)

The following tables present our consolidated results followed by our Adjusted OIBDA results:

	September 30,			
<u> </u>	2020	2019	Increase (decrease)	
Net revenues				
Media \$	201.0	\$ 146.1	38 %	
Live Events	0.7	23.2	(97)%	
Consumer Products	19.9	17.0	17 %	
Total net revenues (1)	221.6	186.3	19 %	
Operating expenses				
Media	89.7	97.5	(8)%	
Live Events	4.5	23.8	(81)%	
Consumer Products	13.8	12.5	10 %	
Total operating expenses (2)	108.0	133.8	(19)%	
Marketing and selling expenses				
Media	13.1	12.4	6 %	
Live Events	0.6	3.0	(80)%	
Consumer Products	0.8	1.0	(20)%	
Total marketing and selling expenses	14.5	16.4	(12)%	
General and administrative expenses (3)	25.2	18.5	36 %	
Depreciation and amortization	10.5	11.2	(6)%	
Operating income	63.4	6.4	891 %	
Interest expense	9.2	7.9	16 %	
Other income, net	7.0	0.2	3,400 %	
Income (loss) before income taxes	61.2	(1.3)	4,808 %	
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	13.0	(7.1)	283 %	
Net income <u>\$</u>	48.2	\$ 5.8	731 %	

- (1) Our consolidated net revenues increased by \$35.3 million, or 19%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This increase was driven by \$60.2 million in incremental revenues primarily associated with the October 2019 renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, *RAW* and *SmackDown*. This increase was partially offset by \$24.1 million of lower ticket and merchandise sales from our live events due to the cancellation of ticketed events due to public health concerns as a result of COVID-19. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.
- (2) Our consolidated operating expenses decreased by \$25.8 million, or 19%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This decrease was primarily driven by \$11.0 million of lower event related and content creation costs due to the cancellation of ticketed events resulting from COVID-19, coupled with \$7.7 million of lower production costs associated with the timing of delivery of our reality-based programming. The current year period also includes \$4.0 million of lower costs associated with the delivery of content to WWE Network, coupled with the impact of various short-term cost reductions that were implemented as a result of COVID-19. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.
- (3) Our consolidated general and administrative expenses increased by \$6.7 million, or 36%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This increase was driven by \$5.1 million of additional staff related costs primarily due to severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19, coupled with \$1.4 million of higher legal expenses resulting from ongoing litigation. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.

September 30, 2020 2019 **Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA** % of Rev % of Rev 63.4 29 % \$ 6.4 3 % Operating income Depreciation and amortization 10.5 5 % 11.2 6 % Stock-based compensation 4.9 2 % 7.8 4 % **-** % Other adjustments (1) 5.5 2 % 25.4 84.3 38 % 14 % Adjusted OIBDA

Three Months Ended

(1) Other adjustments in the current year quarter include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.

		Three Months Ended September 30,				
	_	2020	20:	19	Increase (decrease)	
Adjusted OIBDA						
Media	\$	101.7	\$	41.5	145 %	
Live Events		(4.1)		(2.9)	(41)%	
Consumer Products		5.6		4.0	40 %	
Corporate		(18.9)		(17.2)	(10)%	
Total Adjusted OIBDA	\$	84.3	\$	25.4	232 %	

Media

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Media segment (dollars in millions, except where noted):

	Three	Increase		
	2020	tember 3	2019	(decrease)
Net Revenues				•
Network (including pay-per-view)	\$ 47	.8 \$	44.2	8 %
Core content rights fees (1)	132	.4	72.2	83 %
Advertising and sponsorship	18	.1	15.0	21 %
Other (2)	2	.7	14.7	(82)%
Total net revenues	<u>\$ 201</u>	.0 \$	146.1	38 %
Operating Metrics				
Number of paid WWE Network subscribers at period end	1,548,60	00	1,465,400	6 %
Domestic	1,136,40	00	1,062,100	7 %
International (3)	412,20	00	403,300	2 %
Number of average paid WWE Network subscribers	1,604,00	00	1,511,300	6 %
Domestic	1,172,50	00	1,098,700	7 %
International (3)	431,50	00	412,600	5 %

- (1) Core content rights fees consist primarily of licensing revenues earned from the distribution of our flagship programs, *RAW* and *SmackDown*, as well as our *NXT* programming, through global broadcast, pay television and digital platforms.
- (2) Other revenues within our Media segment reflect revenues earned from the distribution of other WWE content, including, but not limited to, certain live in-ring programming content in international markets, scripted, reality and other programming, as well as theatrical and direct-to-home video releases.
- (3) Metrics reflect subscribers who are direct customers of WWE Network and estimated subscribers under licensed partner agreements, which have different economic terms for WWE Network.

		September 30,						
		2020				2019		
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA				% of Rev			% of Rev	
Operating income	:	\$	94.5	47 %	\$	33.0	23 %	
Depreciation and amortization			3.7	2 %		3.2	2 %	
Stock-based compensation			3.5	2 %		5.3	4 %	
Other adjustments				— %			— %	
Adjusted OIBDA		\$	101.7	51 %	\$	41.5	28 %	

Three Months Ended

Media net revenues increased by \$54.9 million, or 38%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. Our core content rights fees increased by \$60.2 million, or 83%, driven primarily by the October 2019 renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, *RAW* and *SmackDown*. Network revenues, which includes revenues generated by WWE Network subscriptions and pay-per-view, increased by \$3.6 million, or 8%, primarily due to an increase in average paid subscribers. The domestic subscription pricing of WWE Network at September 30, 2020 is \$9.99 per month with no minimum commitment. These increases were partially offset by a decline in other revenue of \$12.0 million, or 82%, driven primarily by the timing of delivery of our reality-based programming, which reduced revenues by \$8.7 million, coupled with \$3.1 million of lower revenue associated with our WWE Studios portfolio.

Media Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues increased in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This increase was driven by increased revenues of \$54.9 million, primarily due to the renewals of our key domestic distribution agreements, as discussed above, coupled with a \$4.0 million of lower costs associated with the delivery of content to WWE Network. The current year quarter also includes the impact of various short-term cost reductions that were implemented as a result of COVID-19.

Live Events

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Live Events segment (dollars in millions, except where noted):

	 Three Mor Septem 2020	Increase (decrease)		
Net Revenues	 2020	-	2019	(decrease)
North American ticket sales	\$ _	\$	18.3	(100)%
International ticket sales	_		2.3	(100)%
Advertising and sponsorship	_		0.5	(100)%
Other (1)	0.7		2.1	(67)%
Total net revenues	\$ 0.7	\$	23.2	(97)%
Operating Metrics (2)				
Total live event attendance	_		328,400	(100)%
Number of North American events	_		67	(100)%
Average North American attendance	_		4,430	(100)%
Average North American ticket price (dollars)	\$ _	\$	56.64	(100)%
Number of international events	_		7	(100)%
Average international attendance	_		4,480	(100)%
Average international ticket price (dollars)	\$ _	\$	65.18	(100)%

- (1) Other revenues within our Live Events segment primarily consists of the sale of travel packages associated with the Company's global live events and commission earned through secondary ticketing, as well as revenues from events for which the Company receives a fixed fee.
- (2) Metrics exclude the events for our domestic and United Kingdom NXT brands. These are our developmental brands that typically conduct their events in smaller venues with lower ticket prices. We did not conduct any ticketed NXT events in the current year quarter as a result of COVID-19. We conducted 46 events with paid attendance of 35,600 and average ticket prices of \$38.48 in the prior year quarter.

	 September 30,						
	 2020			2019			
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Adjusted OIBDA	_	% of Rev			% of Rev		
Operating loss	\$ (4.4)	(629)%	\$	(3.5)	(15)%		
Depreciation and amortization	_	 %		_	— %		
Stock-based compensation	0.3	43 %		0.6	3 %		
Other adjustments	_	— %			— %		
Adjusted OIBDA	\$ (4.1)	(586)%	\$	(2.9)	(13) %		

Three Months Ended

Live Events net revenues, which include revenues from ticket sales and travel packages, decreased by \$22.5 million, or 97%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. Revenues from our North American and international ticket sales decreased by \$20.6 million, or 100%, due to the impact of 74 fewer events during the current year quarter, primarily due to the cancellation of ticketed events as a result of public health concerns related to COVID-19.

Live Events Adjusted OIBDA decreased in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This decrease was driven by the impact of fewer events as a result of COVID-19.

Consumer Products

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Consumer Products segment (dollars in millions, except where noted):

	Three Months Ended September 30,				Increase	
		2020		2019	(decrease)	
Net Revenues						
Consumer product licensing	\$	10.8	\$	7.8	38 %	
eCommerce		9.1		5.7	60 %	
Venue merchandise		<u> </u>		3.5	(100)%	
Total net revenues	\$	19.9	\$	17.0	17%	
Operating Metrics						
Average eCommerce revenue per order (dollars)	\$	59.10	\$	46.09	28 %	
Number of eCommerce orders		153,200		115,500	33 %	
Venue merchandise domestic per capita spending (dollars)	\$	· —	\$	9.38	(100)%	

	Three Months Ended September 30,							
		2020			2019			
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA			% of Rev			% of Rev		
Operating income	\$	5.4	27 %	\$	3.4	20 %		
Depreciation and amortization		_	— %			— %		
Stock-based compensation		0.2	1 %		0.6	4 %		
Other adjustments			— %			— %		
Adjusted OIBDA	\$	5.6	28 %	\$	4.0	24 %		

Consumer Products net revenues increased by \$2.9 million, or 17%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. eCommerce revenues increased by \$3.4 million, or 60%, primarily due to a 33% increase in the volume of online merchandise orders, coupled with a 28% increase in average revenue per order, which was driven, in part, by the release of new replica title belts. Consumer product licensing revenue increased by \$3.0 million, or 38%, primarily due to higher sales of the Company's licensed video games and toys. These increases were partially offset by a decline in venue merchandise revenues of \$3.5 million, or 100%, driven by the cancellation of ticketed events in the current year quarter due to public health concerns as a result of COVID-19.

Consumer Products Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues increased in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This increase was primarily driven by the increased revenues, as discussed above.

Corporate

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate administrative functions, including finance, investor relations, community relations, corporate communications, information technology, legal, human resources and our Board of Directors. The Company does not allocate these general and administrative expenses to its business segments.

Three Months Ended

	Three Months Ended						
	September 30,						
		2020			2019		
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Adjusted OIBDA			% of Rev			% of Rev	
Operating loss	\$	(32.1)	(14)%	\$	(26.5)	(14)%	
Depreciation and amortization		6.8	3 %		8.0	4 %	
Stock-based compensation		0.9	0 %		1.3	1 %	
Other adjustments (1)		5.5	2 %		_	— %	
Adjusted OIBDA	\$	(18.9)	(9)%	\$	(17.2)	(9)%	

⁽¹⁾ Other adjustments in the current year quarter include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19. Our policy is to record Company-wide severance expenses as unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses.

Corporate Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of total revenues remained flat in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. The decrease in Corporate Adjusted OIBDA of \$1.7 million, or 10%, was primarily driven by \$1.4 million of higher legal expenses resulting from ongoing litigation.

Depreciation and Amortization

(dollars in millions)

		Sept	Increase
		2020	(decrease)
Depreciation and amortization	\$	10.5	(6) %

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased by \$0.7 million, or 6%, in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter.

Interest Expense

(dollars in millions)

	Three Mo			
	Septer	mber 30	,	Increase
	2020		2019	(decrease)
\$	9.2	\$	7.9	16%

Interest expense increased by \$1.3 million in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter, primarily driven by expense of \$0.9 million associated with the amount outstanding under the Company's Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining portion of interest expense relates primarily to interest and amortization associated with our convertible notes, the revolving credit facility, other finance leases, mortgage and aircraft financing.

Other Income, Net

(dollars in millions)

	Three M	Months En	ded	
	Sept	tember 30.	·	Increase
	2020		2019	(decrease)
\$	7.0	\$	0.2	3,400%

Other income, net is comprised of interest income, gains and losses recorded on our equity investments, realized translation gains and losses, and rental income. The increase of \$6.8 million in the current year quarter is driven by the recognition of an unrealized holding gain of \$6.6 million resulting from valuation adjustments in our marketable equity investments, primarily DraftKings.

As the underlying stock prices of our marketable equity investments fluctuate, the Company is exposed to future earnings volatility to the extent we continue to hold these investments.

Income Taxes (dollars in millions)

	Three Months Ended					
	 September 30,					
	 2020		2019	(decrease)		
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	\$ 13.0	\$	(7.1)	283 %		
Effective tax rate	21 %		587 %			

The provision for income taxes increased by \$20.1 million in the current year quarter as compared to the prior year quarter. This increase was primarily driven by stronger operating performance, coupled with an \$8.2 million reduction in excess tax benefits relating to share-based compensation. The current year quarter includes \$0.2 million of excess tax expenses related to the Company's share-based compensation awards at vesting, as compared to \$8.0 million of excess tax benefits during the prior year quarter. The tax expense and benefit is driven by the change in the Company's stock price between when the Company granted the awards and their subsequent vesting date during the third quarter.

Discrete tax items, including the aforementioned excess tax benefits, resulted in a net tax benefit of \$0.1 million in the current year quarter as compared to \$6.7 million in the prior year quarter. Excluding these items, our effective tax rate was 21% in the current year quarter as compared to 27% in the prior year quarter, which was driven by an increase in foreign derived investment income deductions.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019 (dollars in millions)

The following tables present our consolidated results followed by our Adjusted OIBDA results:

	Nine Moi Septer	Increase	
	2020	2019	(decrease)
Net revenues			
Media	\$ 657.7	\$ 478.5	37 %
Live Events	19.2	98.2	(80)%
Consumer Products	59.1	60.9	(3)%
Total net revenues (1)	736.0	637.6	15 %
Operating expenses			
Media	333.3	345.0	(3)%
Live Events	27.1	78.5	(65)%
Consumer Products	40.4	43.1	(6)%
Total operating expenses (2)	400.8	466.6	(14)%
Marketing and selling expenses			
Media	47.6	49.1	(3)%
Live Events	4.3	11.1	(61)%
Consumer Products	2.8	4.2	(33)%
Total marketing and selling expenses (3)	54.7	64.4	(15)%
General and administrative expenses (4)	75.9	66.4	14 %
Depreciation and amortization	32.2	23.5	37 %
Operating income	172.4	16.7	932 %
Interest expense	26.5	18.2	46 %
Other income, net	5.1	2.8	82 %
Income before income taxes	151.0	1.3	11,515 %
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	32.8	(6.5)	605 %
Net income	\$ 118.2	\$ 7.8	1,415 %

- (1) Our consolidated net revenues increased by \$98.4 million, or 15%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This increase was primarily driven by \$189.2 million in incremental revenues primarily associated with the October 2019 renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, RAW and SmackDown. This increase was partially offset by a decline of \$84.8 million of lower ticket and merchandise sales due to the staging of 198 fewer events, including the cancellation of ticketed events due to public health concerns as a result of COVID-19. The current year period also included a reduction in revenues of \$11.9 million driven by the timing of delivery of our reality-based programming. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.
- (2) Our consolidated operating expenses decreased by \$65.8 million, or 14%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This decrease was primarily driven by \$37.4 million of lower event related and content creation costs due to the cancellation of ticketed events resulting from COVID-19 and the production of content at a lower cost, coupled with \$11.6 million of lower production costs associated with the timing of delivery of our reality-based programming. The current year period also includes \$8.9 million of lower costs associated with the delivery of content to WWE Network, as well as the impact of various short-term cost reductions that were implemented as a result of COVID-19. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.
- (3) Our consolidated marketing and selling expenses decreased by \$9.7 million, or 15%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This decrease was primarily driven by \$3.9 million of lower advertising and promotional costs due the cancellation of ticketed events resulting from COVID-19. The current year period also includes the impact of various short-term cost reductions that were implemented as a result of COVID-19. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.
- (4) Our consolidated general and administrative expenses increased by \$9.5 million, or 14%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This increase was primarily driven by \$7.7 million of additional staff related costs due, in part, to \$5.5 million of severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19, coupled with \$3.5 million of higher legal expenses resulting from ongoing litigation. For further analysis, refer to Management's Discussion and Analysis of our business segments.

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 2019 **Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA** % of Rev % of Rev \$ Operating income 172.4 23 % 16.7 3 % Depreciation and amortization 32.2 4 % 23.5 4 % Stock-based compensation 24.9 3 % 32.2 5 % 1 % Other adjustments (1) 5.5 **-** % Adjusted OIBDA 235.0 32 % 72.4 11 %

(1) Other adjustments in the current year period include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19.

	 Nine Months Ended September 30,						
Adjusted OIBDA	 2020	2019	(decrease)				
Media Media	\$ 294.8 \$	107.5	174 %				
Live Events	(10.9)	11.2	(197)%				
Consumer Products	17.5	16.2	8%				
Corporate	(66.4)	(62.5)	(6)%				
Total Adjusted OIBDA	\$ 235.0 \$	72.4	225 %				

Media

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Media segment (dollars in millions, except where noted):

		Increase				
		2020 2019		2019	(decrease)	
Net Revenues						
Network (including pay-per-view)	\$	140.7	\$	143.0	(2)%	
Core content rights fees (1)		398.5		209.3	90 %	
Advertising and sponsorship		48.8		44.8	9 %	
Other (2)		69.7		81.4	(14)%	
Total net revenues	\$	657.7	\$	478.5	37 %	
Operating Metrics						
Number of paid WWE Network subscribers at period end		1,548,600		1,465,400	6 %	
Domestic		1,136,400		1,062,100	7 %	
International (3)		412,200		403,300	2 %	
Number of average paid WWE Network subscribers		1,575,600		1,594,100	(1)%	
Domestic		1,144,500		1,163,900	(2)%	
International (3)		431,100		430,200	0 %	

- (1) Core content rights fees consist primarily of licensing revenues earned from the distribution of our flagship programs, RAW and SmackDown, as well as our NXT programming, through global broadcast, pay television and digital platforms.
- (2) Other revenues within our Media segment reflect revenues earned from the distribution of other WWE content, including, but not limited to, certain live in-ring programming content in international markets, scripted, reality and other programming, as well as theatrical and direct-to-home video releases.
- (3) Metrics reflect subscribers who are direct customers of WWE Network and estimated subscribers under licensed partner agreements, which have different economic terms for WWE Network.

	Nine Months Ended September 30,							
		2020			2019			
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA			% of Rev			% of Rev		
Operating income	\$	265.4	40 %	\$	76.2	16 %		
Depreciation and amortization		11.4	2 %		8.1	2 %		
Stock-based compensation		18.0	3 %		23.2	5 %		
Other adjustments		<u> </u>	— %			— %		
Adjusted OIBDA	\$	294.8	45 %	\$	107.5	22 %		

Media net revenues increased by \$179.2 million, or 37%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. Our core content rights fees increased by \$189.2 million, or 90%, driven primarily by the October 2019 renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, *RAW* and *SmackDown*. This increase was partially offset by a decline in other revenues of \$11.7 million, or 14%, primarily driven by the timing of delivery of our reality-based programming. Network revenues, which includes revenues generated by WWE Network subscriptions and pay-per-view, declined by \$2.3 million, or 2%, primarily due to a decline in average paid subscribers. The domestic subscription pricing of WWE Network at September 30, 2020 is \$9.99 per month with no minimum commitment.

Media Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues increased in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This increase was driven by increased revenues of \$179.2 million, primarily due to the renewals of our key domestic distribution agreements, as discussed above, coupled with \$8.9 million of lower costs associated with the delivery of content to WWE Network.

Live Events

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Live Events segment (dollars in millions, except where noted):

	Nine Months Ended September 30.				
	2020 2019		(decrease)		
Net Revenues					
North American ticket sales	\$ 15.2	\$	76.0	(80)%	
International ticket sales	0.2		12.0	(98)%	
Advertising and sponsorship	0.4		1.7	(76)%	
Other (1)	3.4		8.5	(60)%	
Total net revenues	\$ 19.2	\$	98.2	(80)%	
Operating Metrics (2)					
Total live event attendance	259,000		1,178,400	(78)%	
Number of North American events	41		210	(80)%	
Average North American attendance	6,320		4,920	28 %	
Average North American ticket price (dollars)	\$ 53.46	\$	66.19	(19)%	
Number of international events	1		30	(97)%	
Average international attendance	_		4,810	(100)%	
Average international ticket price (dollars)	\$ _	\$	79.43	(100)%	

- (1) Other revenues within our Live Events segment primarily consists of the sale of travel packages associated with the Company's global live events and commission earned through secondary ticketing, as well as revenues from events for which the Company receives a fixed fee.
- (2) Metrics exclude the events for our domestic and United Kingdom NXT brands. These are our developmental brands that typically conduct their events in smaller venues with lower ticket prices. We conducted 44 ticketed NXT events with paid attendance of 40,900 and average ticket prices of \$37.36 in the current year period as compared to 152 events with paid attendance of 120,200 and average ticket prices of \$43.13 in the prior year period.

	Nine Months Ended September 30,						
	2020				2019		
Reconciliation of Operating (Loss) Income to Adjusted OIBDA			% of Rev			% of Rev	
Operating (loss) income	\$	(12.1)	(63)%	\$	8.7	9 %	
Depreciation and amortization		`	— %		_	— %	
Stock-based compensation		1.2	6 %		2.5	3 %	
Other adjustments		_	— %		_	— %	
Adjusted OIBDA	\$	(10.9)	(57)%	\$	11.2	11 %	

Live Events net revenues, which include revenues from ticket sales and travel packages, decreased by \$79.0 million, or 80%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. Revenues from our North American and international ticket sales decreased by \$72.6 million, or 83%, due to the impact of 198 fewer events in the current year period, largely driven by the cancellation of ticketed events as a result of COVID-19.

Live Events Adjusted OIBDA decreased in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This decrease was driven by the impact of fewer events as a result of COVID-19.

Consumer Products

The following tables present the performance results and key drivers for our Consumer Products segment (dollars in millions, except where noted):

	 Nine Mon Septen		Increase (decrease)	
	 2020 2019			
Net Revenues				
Consumer product licensing	\$ 28.2	\$	26.6	6%
eCommerce	27.7		18.9	47 %
Venue merchandise	 3.2		15.4	(79)%
Total net revenues	\$ 59.1	\$	60.9	(3)%
Operating Metrics				
Average eCommerce revenue per order (dollars)	\$ 56.41	\$	46.78	21 %
Number of eCommerce orders	488,800		394,800	24 %
Venue merchandise domestic per capita spending (dollars)	\$ 10.41	\$	10.43	(0)%

	Nine Months Ended September 30,							
		2020		2019				
Reconciliation of Operating Income to Adjusted OIBDA			% of Rev			% of Rev		
Operating income	\$	15.9	27 %	\$	13.6	22 %		
Depreciation and amortization		_	<u> </u>		_	— %		
Stock-based compensation		1.6	3 %		2.6	4 %		
Other adjustments		<u> </u>	<u> </u>			— %		
Adjusted OIBDA	\$	17.5	30 %	\$	16.2	27 %		

Consumer Products net revenues decreased by \$1.8 million, or 3%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. Venue merchandise revenues decreased by \$12.2 million, or 79%, primarily driven by the cancellation of ticketed events in the current year period due to public health concerns as a result of COVID-19. This decline was partially offset by increased eCommerce revenues of \$8.8 million, or 47%, primarily due to a 24% increase in the volume of online merchandise orders, coupled with a 21% increase in average revenue per order, which was driven, in part, by the release of new replica title belts. The current year period also included an increase of \$1.6 million, or 6%, in our consumer product licensing revenues, primarily due to higher sales from the Company's licensed video games.

Consumer Products Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of revenues increased in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. This increase was primarily driven by the decline in event related costs due to the cancellation of ticketed events as a result of COVID-19.

Corporate

Unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses largely relate to corporate administrative functions, including finance, investor relations, community relations, corporate communications, information technology, legal, human resources and our Board of Directors. The Company does not allocate these general and administrative expenses to its business segments.

	Nine Months Ended September 30,							
	2020				2019			
Reconciliation of Operating Loss to Adjusted OIBDA			% of Rev			% of Rev		
Operating loss	\$	(96.8)	(13)%	\$	(81.8)	(13)%		
Depreciation and amortization		20.8	3 %		15.4	2 %		
Stock-based compensation		4.1	1 %		3.9	1 %		
Other adjustments (1)		5.5	1 %			— %		
Adjusted OIBDA	\$	(66.4)	(9)%	\$	(62.5)	(10)%		

(1) Other adjustments in the current year period include severance expenses associated with a reduction in our workforce as a result of COVID-19. Our policy is to record Company-wide severance expenses as unallocated corporate general and administrative expenses.

Corporate Adjusted OIBDA as a percentage of total revenues was essentially unchanged in the current year period as compared to the prior year period. The decrease in Corporate Adjusted OIBDA of \$3.9 million, or 6%, was primarily driven by \$3.5 million of higher legal expenses resulting from ongoing litigation.

Depreciation and Amortization

(dollars in millions)

	Nine M	onths End	led	
	 Septe	Increase		
	 2020		2019	(decrease)
Depreciation and amortization	\$ 32.2	\$	23.5	37%

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by \$8.7 million, or 37%, in the current year period as compared to the prior year period, primarily driven by additional expenses of \$5.2 million associated with Company's workspace strategy plan, which includes the amortization related to the right-of-use asset for the Company's new global headquarters lease, which commenced on July 1, 2019, and the impact of other prior year capital expenditures.

Interest Expense

(dollars in millions)

	Nine Mo	onths End	led	
	Septe	ember 30,		Increase
	2020 2019			(decrease)
\$	26.5	\$	18.2	46%

Interest expense increased by \$8.3 million in the current year period as compared to the prior year period, primarily driven by expense of \$8.6 million associated with the Company's new global headquarters lease, which commenced on July 1, 2019 and is accounted for as a finance lease. The current year period also includes expense of \$1.8 million associated with the amount outstanding under the Company's Revolving Credit Facility. The prior year period included additional nonrecurring interest expense of \$1.4 million related to our convertible notes. The remaining portion of interest expense relates primarily to interest and amortization associated with our convertible notes, the revolving credit facility, other finance leases, mortgage and aircraft financing.

Other Income, Net

	Nine Months Ended					
	 Septe	Increase				
	2020	2019	(decrease)			
Other income, net	\$ 5.1	82%				

Other income, net is comprised of interest income, gains and losses recorded on our equity investments, realized translation gains and losses, and rental income. The increase of \$2.3 million in the current year period as compared to the prior year period is primarily driven by the recognition of a net unrealized holding gain of \$14.4 million resulting from a valuation adjustment in our marketable equity investments, primarily DraftKings. Partially offset by impairment charges of \$11.5 million on our investments in an apparel and lifestyle brand and a themed attraction touring company resulting from significant adverse changes in the economic and market conditions caused by COVID-19 combined with lower sales forecasts.

As the underlying stock prices of our marketable equity investments fluctuate, the Company is exposed to future earnings volatility to the extent we continue to hold these investments.

Income Taxes

(dollars in millions)

	 Septe	Increase		
	2020 2019			(decrease)
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes	\$ 32.8	\$	(6.5)	(605) %
Effective tax rate	22 %		(481) %	

Nine Months Ended

The effective tax rate in the current year period of 22% approximates the Company's currently projected annual effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2020, excluding the impact of any discrete, non-recurring tax items.

The current year period includes \$0.4 million of excess tax expenses related to the Company's share-based compensation awards at vesting, as compared to \$8.2 million of excess tax benefits during the prior year period. The tax expense and benefit is driven by the change in the Company's stock price between when the Company granted the awards and their subsequent vesting date during the third quarter.

Discrete tax items, including the aforementioned excess tax benefits, resulted in a net tax benefit of \$0.1 million in the current year period as compared to \$6.8 million in the prior year period. Excluding these items, our effective tax rate was 22% in the current year quarter as compared to 25% in the prior year quarter.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We had cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments of \$638.3 million and \$250.5 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Our short-term investments consist primarily of U.S. Treasury securities, corporate bonds, municipal bonds, including pre-refunded municipal bonds, and government agency bonds. Our debt balance totaled \$415.4 million and \$214.4 million as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively, and includes the carrying value of \$193.1 million and \$188.7 million related to our convertible senior notes due 2023 as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

The COVID-19 pandemic has negatively impacted the global economy, disrupted business operations and created significant volatility and disruption to financial markets. Significant uncertainty remains as to the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations, and on the global economy as a whole. The extent and duration of the pandemic could continue to disrupt global markets and may affect our ability to generate cash from operations. Additionally, please refer to Part II, Item 1A, *Risk Factors*, which provides a discussion of risk factors related to COVID-19.

In order to preserve sufficient liquidity during these uncertain times, the Company has delayed construction on its new headquarters office space. The Company did not make any repurchases of common stock under our approved \$500.0 million share repurchase program, which was temporarily suspended in April 2020. We may resume repurchases under this program, with any such repurchases being executed opportunistically, i.e. when the purchase price is below the Company's intrinsic value as conservatively estimated by management, subject to the Company's business outlook and liquidity at such time as well as whether share repurchases compare favorably to other capital allocation alternatives. To further strengthen the Company's liquidity, as a precautionary measure, on April 16, 2020, the Company borrowed \$200.0 million under its Revolving Credit Facility. We believe that this added liquidity combined with our existing cash and cash equivalents and short-term investment balances, along with cash generated from operations, will be sufficient to meet our ongoing operating requirements for at least the next twelve months, inclusive of dividend payments, debt service, content production activities, and planned capital expenditures.

As it relates to our Convertible Notes, which pursuant to the terms are currently convertible, we believe that if note holders elected to convert their notes within the next twelve months, the Company has sufficient means to settle the Convertible Notes using any combination of existing cash and cash equivalents and investment balances, cash generated from operations or through the issuance of shares.

Debt Summary and Borrowing Capacity

The Company has \$215.0 million aggregate principal amount of 3.375% convertible senior notes (the "Convertible Notes") due December 15, 2023. See Note 13, *Convertible Debt*, and Note 5, *Earnings Per Share*, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further information on the Convertible Notes, including the dilutive nature of the Convertible Notes.

On May 24, 2019, the Company entered into an amended and restated \$200.0 million senior unsecured revolving credit facility with a syndicated group of banks, with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. acting as Administrative Agent (the "Revolving Credit Facility"). The Revolving Credit Facility has a maturity date of May 24, 2024. On April 16, 2020, as a precautionary measure to further strengthen liquidity due to the impact of COVID-19, the Company borrowed \$200.0 million under its Revolving Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2020, the Company was in compliance with the provisions of our Revolving Credit Facility and there was \$200.0 million outstanding.

In September 2016, the Company acquired land and a building located in Stamford, Connecticut adjacent to our production facility. In connection with the acquisition, we assumed future obligations under a loan agreement, in the principal amount of \$23.0 million, which loan is secured by a mortgage on the property. Pursuant to the loan agreement, the assets of WWE Real Estate, a subsidiary of the Company, represent collateral for the underlying mortgage, therefore these assets will not be available to satisfy debts and obligations due to any other creditors of the Company. As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the amounts outstanding of the mortgage were \$22.2 million and \$22.5 million, respectively.

In 2013, the Company entered into a \$31.6 million promissory note (the "Aircraft Note") with Citizens Asset Finance, Inc., for the purchase of a 2007 Bombardier Global 5000 aircraft and refurbishments. The Aircraft Note matured on August 7, 2020 and was fully repaid. As of September 30, 2020, there were no amounts outstanding under the Aircraft Note. As of December 31, 2019, the amount outstanding under the Aircraft Note was \$3.2 million.

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Cash generated from operating activities was \$257.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as compared to \$2.3 million for the corresponding period in the prior year. The \$255.2 million increase in the current year period was primarily driven by the timing of collections associated with our large-scale international events, coupled with improved operating performance, including the renewal of our key domestic distribution agreements of our flagship programs, *RAW* and *SmackDown*.

In the current year period, we spent \$19.5 million on content production activities, including *Total Bellas Seasons 5* and 6, *Miz & Mrs. Season 2*, *The Quest for Lost WWE Treasures*, and various programs for WWE Network, as compared to \$26.6 million in the prior year period. We anticipate spending approximately \$10 million to \$15 million on content production activities during the remainder of the current year. We received content production incentives of \$0.4 million in the current year period, as compared to \$0.7 million received in the prior year period. We anticipate receiving approximately \$15 million of content production related incentives during the remainder of the year.

Our accounts receivable represents a significant portion of our current assets and relate principally to a limited number of distributors and licensees. At September 30, 2020, there were no customers that individually exceeded 10% of our gross accounts receivable balance. Changes in the financial condition or operations of our distributors, customers or licensees may result in increased delayed payments or non-payments which would adversely impact our cash flows from operating activities and/or our results of operations. We believe credit risk with respect to accounts receivable is limited due to the generally high credit quality of the Company's major customers.

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Cash provided by investing activities was \$19.5 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as compared to cash used of \$18.1 million in the prior year period. During the current year period, we received proceeds from the maturities of our short-term investments of \$105.4 million and purchased \$64.3 million of new investments, as compared to proceeds of \$113.3 million and purchases of \$74.9 million in the prior year period. Capital expenditures decreased by \$34.9 million in the current year period. The prior year period included additional spending to support the Company's workplace and technology related strategic initiatives. Due to the uncertainty created from the COVID-19 pandemic, we have temporarily delayed construction activity on the Company's new global headquarters space in Stamford, Connecticut. Capital expenditures for the remainder of the current year are estimated to range between \$7 million and \$11 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities was \$152.0 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, as compared to cash used of \$75.1 million for the prior year period. The Company received proceeds of \$200.0 million from borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility during the current year period. The Company made dividend payments of \$27.9 million and \$28.2 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Additionally, the Company made employee payroll withholding tax payments of \$11.0 million in the current year period as compared to \$30.1 million in the prior year period related to the net settlement upon vesting of employee equity awards. During the prior year period, the Company paid \$8.5 million for stock repurchases under its approved stock repurchase program.

Contractual Obligations

Other than for obligations in the ordinary course of business, there have been no significant changes to our contractual obligations that were previously disclosed in our Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

Other than the revisions to our content production asset accounting policy, as disclosed in Note 9, *Content Production Assets*, *Net*, in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, there have been no significant changes to our critical accounting policies that were previously disclosed in our Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 or in the methodology used in formulating these significant judgments and estimates that affect the application of these policies.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The information set forth under Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption "Recent Accounting Pronouncements" is incorporated herein by reference.

Cautionary Statement for Purposes of the "Safe Harbor" Provisions of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 provides a "safe harbor" for certain statements that are forward-looking and are not based on historical facts. When used in this Form 10-K and our other SEC filings, our press releases and comments made in earnings calls, investor presentations or otherwise to the public, the words "may," "will," "could," "anticipate," "plan," "continue," "project," "intend," "estimate," "believe," "expect" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such words. These statements relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and are not historical facts and accordingly involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results or the performance by us to be materially different from future results or performance expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. The following factors, among others, could cause actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements made in this Form 10-K and our other SEC filings, in press releases, earnings calls and other statements made by our authorized officers; (i) risks relating to the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak on our business, results of operations and financial condition; (ii) risks relating to entering, maintaining and renewing major distribution and event agreements; (iii) risks relating to a rapidly evolving media landscape; (iv) risks relating to WWE Network, including the risk that we are unable to attract, retain and renew subscribers; (v) our need to continue to develop creative and entertaining programs and events; (vi) our need to retain or continue to recruit key performers; (vii) the risk of a decline in the popularity of our brand of sports entertainment, including as a result of changes in the social and political climate; (viii) the possible unexpected loss of the services of Vincent K. McMahon; (ix) possible adverse changes in the regulatory atmosphere and related private sector initiatives; (x) the highly competitive, rapidly changing and increasingly fragmented nature of the markets in which we operate and/or our inability to compete effectively, especially against competitors with greater financial resources or marketplace presence; (xi) uncertainties associated with international markets including possible disruptions and reputational risks; (xii) our difficulty or inability to promote and conduct our live events and/or other businesses if we do not comply with applicable regulations; (xiii) our dependence on our intellectual property rights, our need to protect those rights, and the risks of our infringement of others' intellectual property rights; (xiv) risks relating to the complexity of our rights agreements across distribution mechanisms and geographical areas; (xv) the risk of substantial liability in the event of accidents or injuries occurring during our physically demanding events including, without limitation, claims alleging traumatic brain injury; (xvi) exposure to risks relating to large public events as well as travel to and from such events; (xvii) risks inherent in our feature film business; (xviii) a variety of risks as we expand into new or complementary businesses and/or make strategic investments and/or acquisitions; (xix) risks related to our computer systems and online operations; (xx) risks relating to privacy norms and regulations; (xxi) risks relating to a possible decline in general economic conditions and disruption in financial markets; (xxii) risks relating to our accounts receivable; (xxiii) risks relating to our indebtedness including our convertible notes; (xxiv) potential substantial liabilities if litigation is resolved unfavorably; (xxv) our potential failure to meet market expectations for our financial performance; (xxvi) through his beneficial ownership of a substantial majority of our Class B common stock, our controlling stockholder, Vincent K. McMahon, exercises control over our affairs, and his interests may conflict with the holders of our Class A common stock; (xxvii) a substantial number of shares are eligible for sale by Mr. McMahon and members of his family or trusts established for their benefit, and the sale, or the perception of possible sales, of those shares could lower our stock price; and (xxviii) risks related to the volatility of our Class A common stock. In addition, our dividend is dependent on a number of factors, including, among other things, our liquidity and historical and projected cash flow, strategic plan (including alternative uses of capital), our financial results and condition, contractual and legal restrictions on the payment of dividends (including under our revolving credit facility), general economic and competitive conditions and such other factors as our Board of Directors may consider relevant. Forward-looking statements made by the Company speak only as of the date made, are subject to change without any obligation on the part of the Company to update or revise them, and undue reliance should not be placed on these statements. For more information about risks and uncertainties associated with the Company's business, please refer to the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Risk Factors" sections of this Form 10-Q and our other SEC filings, including, but not limited to, our annual report on Form 10-K.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

There have been no significant changes to our market risk factors that were previously disclosed in our Report on Form 10-K for our fiscal year ended December 31, 2019.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) or Rule 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based on that evaluation, our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2020.

Our management, including our Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and procedures or our internal controls will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system, no matter how

well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system's objectives will be met. Further, because of inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the Company have been detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended September 30, 2020, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

On October 23, 2014, a lawsuit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the District of Oregon, entitled William Albert Haynes III, on behalf of himself and others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. This complaint was amended on January 30, 2015 and alleged that the Company ignored, downplayed, and/or failed to disclose the risks associated with traumatic brain injuries suffered by WWE's performers and sought class action status. On March 31, 2015, the Company filed a motion to dismiss the first amended class action complaint in its entirety or, if not dismissed, to transfer the lawsuit to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut. Without addressing the merits of the Company's motion to dismiss, the Court transferred the case to Connecticut on June 25, 2015. The plaintiffs filed an objection to such transfer, which was denied on July 27, 2015. On January 16, 2015, a second lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, entitled Evan Singleton and Vito LoGrasso, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., alleging many of the same allegations as Haynes. On February 27, 2015, the Company moved to transfer venue to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut due to forum-selection clauses in the contracts between WWE and the plaintiffs and that motion was granted on March 23, 2015. The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on May 22, 2015 and, following a scheduling conference in which the court ordered the plaintiffs to cure various pleading deficiencies, the plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint on June 15, 2015. On June 29, 2015, WWE moved to dismiss the second amended complaint in its entirety. On April 9, 2015, a third lawsuit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the Central District of California, entitled Russ McCullough, a/k/a "Big Russ McCullough," Ryan Sakoda, and Matthew R. Wiese a/k/a "Luther Reigns," individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., asserting similar allegations to Haynes. The Company again moved to transfer the lawsuit to Connecticut due to forumselection clauses in the contracts between WWE and the plaintiffs, which the California court granted on July 10, 2015. On September 21, 2015, the plaintiffs amended this complaint, and, on November 16, 2015, the Company moved to dismiss the amended complaint. Each of these suits sought unspecified actual, compensatory and punitive damages and injunctive relief, including ordering medical monitoring. The Haynes and McCullough cases purport to be class actions. On February 18, 2015, a lawsuit was filed in Tennessee state court and subsequently removed to the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Tennessee, entitled Cassandra Frazier, individually and as next of kin to her deceased husband, Nelson Lee Frazier, Jr., and as personal representative of the Estate of Nelson Lee Frazier, Jr. Deceased, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. A similar suit was filed in the U. S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas entitled Michelle James, as mother and next friend of Matthew Osborne, minor child, and Teagan Osborne, a minor child v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. These lawsuits contain many of the same allegations as the other lawsuits alleging traumatic brain injuries and further allege that the injuries contributed to these former talents' deaths. WWE moved to transfer the Frazier and Osborne lawsuits to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut based on forum-selection clauses in the decedents' contracts with WWE, which motions were granted by the respective courts. On November 23, 2015, amended complaints were filed in Frazier and Osborne, which the Company moved to dismiss on December 16, 2015 and December 21, 2015, respectively. On November 10, 2016, the Court granted the Company's motions to dismiss the Frazier and Osborne lawsuits in their entirety. On June 29, 2015, the Company filed a declaratory judgment action in the U. S. District Court for the District of Connecticut entitled World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. v. Robert Windham, Thomas Billington, James Ware, Oreal Perras and various John and Jane Does seeking a declaration against these former performers that their threatened claims related to alleged traumatic brain injuries and/or other tort claims are time-barred. On September 21, 2015, the defendants filed a motion to dismiss this complaint, which the Company opposed. The Court previously ordered a stay of discovery in all cases pending decisions on the motions to dismiss. On January 15, 2016, the Court partially lifted the stay and permitted discovery only on three issues in the case involving Singleton and LoGrasso. Such discovery was completed by June 1, 2016. On March 21, 2016, the Court issued a memorandum of decision granting in part and denying in part the Company's motions to dismiss the Haynes, Singleton/LoGrasso, and McCullough lawsuits. The Court granted the Company's motions to dismiss the Haynes and McCullough lawsuits in their entirety and granted the Company's motion to dismiss all claims in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit except for the claim of fraud by omission. On March 22, 2016, the Court issued an order dismissing the Windham lawsuit based on the Court's memorandum of decision on the motions to dismiss. On April 4, 2016, the Company filed a motion for reconsideration with respect to the Court's decision not to dismiss the fraud by omission claim in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit and, on April 5, 2016, the Company filed a motion for reconsideration with respect to the Court dismissal of the Windham lawsuit. On July 21, 2016, the Court denied the Company's motion in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit and granted in part the Company's motion in the Windham lawsuit. On April 20, 2016, the plaintiffs filed notices of appeal of the Haynes and McCullough lawsuits. On April 27, 2016, the Company moved to dismiss the appeals for lack of appellate jurisdiction, which motions were granted, and the appeals were dismissed with leave to appeal upon the resolution of all of the consolidated cases. The Company filed a motion for summary judgment on the sole remaining

claim in the Singleton/LoGrasso lawsuit, which was granted on March 28, 2018. The Company also filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants. Lastly, on July 18, 2016, a lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut, entitled Joseph M. Laurinaitis, et al. vs. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and Vincent K. McMahon, individually and as the trustee of certain trusts. This lawsuit contains many of the same allegations as the other lawsuits alleging traumatic brain injuries and further alleges, among other things, that the plaintiffs were misclassified as independent contractors rather than employees denying them, among other things, rights and benefits under the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSHA), the National Labor Relations Act (NLRA), the Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA), federal tax law, and various state Worker's Compensation laws. This lawsuit also alleges that the booking contracts and other agreements between the plaintiffs and the Company are unconscionable and should be declared void, entitling the plaintiffs to certain damages relating to the Company's use of their intellectual property. The lawsuit alleges claims for violation of RICO, unjust enrichment, and an accounting against Mr. McMahon. The Company and Mr. McMahon moved to dismiss and for sanctions with respect to this complaint on October 19, 2016. On November 9, 2016, the Laurinaitis plaintiffs filed an amended complaint. On December 23, 2016, the Company and Mr. McMahon moved to dismiss and for sanctions with respect to the amended complaint. On September 29, 2017, the Court issued an order on the motion to dismiss pending in the Laurinaitis case and on the motion for judgment on the pleadings pending in the Windham case. The Court reserved judgment on the pending motions and ordered that within thirty-five (35) days of the date of the order the Laurinaitis plaintiffs and the Windham defendants file amended pleadings that comply with the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. The Court further ordered that each of the Laurinaitis plaintiffs and the Windham defendants submit to the Court for in camera review affidavits signed and sworn under penalty of perjury setting forth facts within each plaintiff's or declaratory judgment-defendant's personal knowledge that form the factual basis of their claim or defense. On November 3, 2017, the Laurinaitis plaintiffs filed a second amended complaint. The Company and Mr. McMahon believe that the second amended complaint failed to comply with the Court's September 29, 2017 order and otherwise remained legally defective for all of the reasons set forth in their motion to dismiss the amended complaint. Also on November 3, 2017, the Windham defendants filed a second answer. On November 17, 2017, the Company and Mr. McMahon filed a response that, among other things, urged the Court to grant the motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants and dismiss the Laurinaitis plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice and award sanctions against the Laurinaitis plaintiffs' counsel because the amended pleadings failed to comply with the Court's September 29, 2017 order and the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. On September 17, 2018, the Court granted the motion to dismiss filed by the Company and Mr. McMahon in the Laurinaitis case in its entirety, awarded sanctions against the Laurinaitis plaintiffs' counsel, and granted the Company's motion for judgment on the pleadings against the Windham defendants. The plaintiffs attempted to appeal these decisions. On November 16, 2018, the Company moved to dismiss all of the appeals, except for the appeal of the dismissal of the Laurinaitis case, for being filed untimely. On April 4, 2019, the Second Circuit issued an order referring the Company's motions to dismiss to the panel that will determine the merits of the appeals. The plaintiffs-appellants' opening brief was filed on July 8, 2019. The Company and Mr. McMahon filed their appellees' brief on October 7, 2019. The plaintiffs-appellants filed a reply brief on October 28, 2019. The Second Circuit held oral argument on June 5, 2020. On September 9, 2020, the Second Circuit issued a summary order, dismissing the appeals of the sanctions orders and the merits appeals of the dismissal of all claims in the Haynes, McCullough, Frazier, and Singleton cases for lack of appellate jurisdiction and affirming the judgment of the district court on all other claims. On September 23, 2020, the plaintiffs-appellants filed a petition for rehearing/rehearing en banc, which was denied on October 15, 2020. The Company believes all claims and threatened claims against the Company in these various lawsuits were prompted by the same plaintiffs' lawyer and that all are without merit. The Company intends to continue to defend itself against the attempt to appeal these decisions vigorously.

On March 6, 2020, the Company along with its Chairman and CEO, Vince McMahon, and former-WWE officers and directors, Michelle Wilson and George Barrios (collectively, the "Individual Defendants"), were sued in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York in a case captioned City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., Vincent K. McMahon, George A. Barrios, and Michelle D. Wilson, No. 1:20-cv-02031-JSR. The complaint alleges that the Company and the Individual Defendants made materially false and misleading statements in violation of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 regarding WWE's strategic relationship with the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Specifically, the complaint alleges that various public statements made by the Company and the Individual Defendants were false and misleading because they failed to disclose certain adverse facts regarding WWE's strategic relationship with Saudi Arabia that supposedly was known by them and, as a result, the plaintiff class allegedly purchased WWE stock at artificially inflated prices. On March 12, 2020 a nearly-identical lawsuit was filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York captioned Paul Szaniawski, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, v. World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc., Vincent K. McMahon, George A. Barrios, and Michelle D. Wilson, No. 1:20-cv-02223-JSR. This lawsuit was filed as related to the City of Warren case and was assigned to the same judge handling the City of Warren case. By Order dated May 12, 2020, the City of Warren and Szaniawski lawsuits were consolidated for all purposes. After multiple parties filed motions to be appointed lead plaintiff for the putative class in the consolidated action, on May 22, 2020, the Court issued a memorandum order selecting the Firefighters' Pension System of the City of Kansas City, Missouri to be lead plaintiff and their attorneys, Labaton Sucharow LLP, to be lead counsel for the putative class. On May 26, 2020, the Company served Rule 11 motion for sanctions on the attorneys for the City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System, the attorneys for Paul Szaniawski, and Labaton Sucharow LLP. The Rule 11 motion identified false allegations in the originally filed complaints and was supported by six declarations from Company executives and third-parties with direct first-hand knowledge of the matters at issue. Following service of the Rule 11 motion, the attorneys for the City of Warren Police and Fire Retirement System and the attorneys for Paul Szaniawski voluntarily dismissed their complaints before the expiration of the Rule 11 safe-harbor period. On June 8, 2020, the Firefighters' Pension System of the City of Kansas City, Missouri filed a consolidated amended class action complaint. On June 26, 2020, the Company moved to dismiss the consolidated amended complaint in its entirety. The Court held oral

argument on the Company's motion to dismiss on July 30, 2020. On August 6, 2020, the Court denied the Company's motion to dismiss. On August 19, 2020, the Court issued a case management plan that, among other things, scheduled this case to be trial ready on February 22, 2021.

Additionally, three purported shareholder derivative suits have been filed against the members of the Company's Board of Directors patterned after the securities class action complaints filed in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York. Merholz et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al, No. 3:20-cv-00557-VAB, was filed in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut and assigned to the Honorable Victor A. Bolden, On May 29, 2020, the Defendants served Merholz's counsel with a Rule 11 motion that identified the false allegations in the complaint. On May 19, 2020, Merholz filed an amended complaint prior to the expiration of the Rule 11 safe-harbor period, which is substantially similar to the consolidated amended class action complaint filed in the securities class action. Because Merholz's amended complaint continued to assert allegations that were proven to be false by the Defendants' Rule 11 motion regarding the original complaint, the Defendants served Merholz's counsel with a Rule 11 motion regarding the amended complaint on July 2, 2020. On July 28, 2020, Merholz filed a second amended complaint. Kooi et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al., No. 3:20-cv-00743-VAB, was originally filed in Connecticut Superior Court and was removed by the Defendants to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on June 1, 2020. The Kooi lawsuit was deemed to be related to the Merholz lawsuit and transferred to Judge Bolden. On June 8, 2020, Kooi filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to state court. The Defendants filed its opposition to the motion to remand on June 29, 2020. Following Kooi's affirmation of the allegations of the complaint in federal court by filing the motion to remand, on June 12, 2020, the Defendants served Kooi's counsel with a Rule 11 motion similar to that served on counsel in the Merholz lawsuit. On July 3, 2020, Kooi filed an amended complaint that withdrew the false allegations identified in the Defendants' Rule 11 motion. Nordstrom et al. v. Vincent K. McMahon et al., No. 3:20-cv-00904-VAB, was originally filed in Connecticut Superior Court, and also removed by the Defendants to the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut on July 1, 2020. The Nordstrom lawsuit was deemed to be related to the Merholz and Kooi lawsuits and was also transferred to Judge Bolden. Following Nordstrom's affirmation of the allegations of the complaint in federal court, on July 24, 2020, the Defendants served Nordstrom's counsel with a Rule 11 motion similar to that served on counsel in the Merholz and Kooi lawsuits. On July 31, 2020, Nordstrom filed a motion to remand the lawsuit to state court, which the Defendants opposed. On August 14, 2020, Nordstrom filed an amended complaint in the U.S. District Court for the District of Connecticut. On July 2, 2020, the Defendants moved to consolidate the Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom lawsuits for all purposes. Following a status conference held on July 24, 2020, on August 1, 2020, the Court denied the Defendants' motion to consolidate without prejudice to renew following resolution of any motions to dismiss and motions to remand. The Defendants filed a consolidated motion to dismiss the complaints in the Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom lawsuits on August 28, 2020. Merholz, Kooi, and Nordstrom filed oppositions to the motion to dismiss on September 18, 2020 and the Defendants filed its reply on October 2, 2020. Oral argument on the motion to dismiss and motions to remand is scheduled for October 29, 2020. On October 23, 2020, another shareholder, Dennis Palkon, moved to intervene in the proceedings before Judge Bolden, to have his counsel appointed as lead counsel, to designate the proposed complaint that he filed with his motion to intervene as the operative compliant, and to deny as moot Defendants' pending motions to dismiss in light of the newly-filed complaint. The Company believes all claims in the securities class action and related derivative actions are without merit, and intends to defend itself and the members of the Board of Directors vigorously against them.

In addition to the foregoing, from time to time we become a party to other lawsuits and claims. By its nature, the outcome of litigation is not known, but the Company does not currently expect this ordinary course litigation to have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

We previously updated the risk factors disclosed under the heading "Item 1A. Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 in our Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on March 17, 2020, with respect to certain risks arising out of COVID-19. Given the continuing nature of the pandemic, we updated this risk factor in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on July 30, 2020 as follows:

The ongoing coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic may continue to negatively affect world economies as well as our industry, business and results of operations.

As previously reported, the global spread of the coronavirus (COVID-19) and the various attempts to contain it have resulted in restrictions, postponements and cancellations of various sports and other events and has and likely will continue to require us to cancel, postpone or relocate certain of our live events. We do not currently expect insurance to cover a significant portion, if any, of this lost business. The pandemic has also continued to create significant volatility, uncertainty and economic disruption, the full extent of which will depend on numerous evolving factors that we can neither predict nor control including the pandemic's duration and severity and the governmental, business and individual responses to it. As a result, we have been required to alter certain aspects of our operations beyond our live events. We have taken measures to protect the health and well-being of our employees and our talent and other vendors. Our workforce has spent a significant amount of time working from home. Travel has been severely curtailed. We have greatly increased our cleaning and health check protocols, which increase related expenditures. We also implemented certain cash conserving measures, which were or have been in effect for various time periods, including pausing our stock repurchase program and certain capital

expenditures; containing employment costs through salary reductions and furloughs; containing certain third party vendor costs; and drawing under our revolving credit facility. We believe our partners' operations have also been affected. To the extent the resulting economic disruption is severe, we could see supply constraints and/or a negative impact on our customers' demand, or ability to pay (including an impact on the collectability of our accounts receivable), for our goods and services. We will continue actively to monitor the issues raised by the COVID-19 pandemic and may take further actions that alter our business operations that are required by applicable governmental authorities and/or that we determine to be in the best interests of our employees, talent, customers, partners and stockholders. There can be no assurance that we will be entirely successful in these endeavors, which could result in inadvertent noncompliance with applicable law. The COVID-19 pandemic also could result in heightened litigation risks relating to personal injury or death and/or increased levels of commercial litigation. Any of the foregoing could have a material negative effect on our business and results of operations.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table presents information with respect to purchases of common stock of the Company made during the three months ended September 30, 2020 pursuant to the Company's authorized share repurchase program:

Period	Total Number of Shares Purchased	Average Price Paid Per Share	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Program	Maximum Dollar Value that May Yet Be Purchased Under the Program ⁽¹⁾
July 1, 2020 to July 31, 2020	_	\$	_	416,559,270
August 1, 2020 to August 31, 2020	_	\$	_	416,559,270
September 1, 2020 to September 30, 2020	_	\$	_	416,559,270
Total		\$		\$ 416,559,270

(1) On February 7, 2019, the Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program of up to \$500.0 million of our common stock. Repurchases may be made from time to time at management's discretion subject to certain pre-approved parameters and in accordance with all applicable securities and other laws and regulations. The stock repurchase program does not obligate the Company to repurchase any minimum dollar amount or number of shares and may be modified, suspended or discontinued at any time. The repurchased shares under the program in previous periods were subsequently retired.

Item 6. Exhibits

(a) Exhibits:

Exhibit

No.	Description of Exhibit		
10.34*	Employment Agreement between World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. and Nick Khan, effective as of August 3, 2020 (incorporated by reference to		
	Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed August 6, 2020).		
10.35*	Form of Performance Stock Sign-on Award and Non-Competition Agreement with Nick Khan under the Company's 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan		
	(filed herewith).		
31.1	Certification by Vincent K. McMahon pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).		
31.2	Certification by Kristina Salen pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).		
32.1	Certification by Vincent K. McMahon and Kristina Salen pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (filed herewith).		
101.INS	Inline XBRL Instance Document		
101.SCH	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document		
101.CAL	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document		
101.DEF	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document		
101.LAB	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document		
101.PRE	Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document		
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)		

^{*} Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. (Registrant)

Dated: October 29, 2020

By:/s/ KRISTINA SALEN

Kristina Salen
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer and authorized signatory)

By:/s/ MARK KOWAL

Mark Kowal
Chief Accounting Officer and

Senior Vice President, Controller (principal accounting officer and authorized signatory)

PERFORMANCE STOCK SIGN-ON AWARD AND NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT

THIS PERFORMANCE STOCK SIGN-ON AWARD AND NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT (this "Agreement") is made effective as of August 5, 2020 by and between Nick Khan (referred to hereinafter as "Executive") and World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. (referred to hereinafter as the "Company"). Executive and the Company are collectively referred to hereinafter as the "Parties."

WHEREAS, Executive is President & Chief Revenue Officer of the Company;

WHEREAS, the Company wishes to provide certain equity compensation to the Executive;

WHEREAS, Executive acknowledges that by virtue of his position at the Company, he is highly compensated, and he has access to much of the Company's most important business information. Such business information includes, but is not limited to, the Company's business strategies, marketing strategies, future plans, financial information, employee costs, vendor contracts, event planning, programming planning, computer systems, and other confidential data; and

WHEREAS, Executive acknowledges and agrees that if he joined or provided services to a competitor of the Company, the Company would suffer hard and such hard would be difficult, if not impossible, to quantify in monetary damages;

NOW, THEREFORE, for the consideration described herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged, Executive and the Company hereby agree as follows:

- 1. <u>Certain Definitions</u>. Unless otherwise defined herein, each capitalized term used in this Agreement shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in the 2016 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). The following capitalized terms shall have the respective meanings set forth below:
- (a) "Business Partner" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.
- (b) "Cause" shall be defined as it is in the then current WWE Severance Policy (or if WWE does not then have a Severance Policy in place, then as defined in the current WWE Severance Policy attached as Exhibit A). The inclusion of "sub-standard job performance" in this definition of "Cause" (or any provision in future iterations of the WWE Severance Policy that has the same meaning) is expressly excluded for purposes of the Clawback provided in Section 12. Such exclusion shall not affect any other rights of the Company under any other clause of the definition of "Cause".
- (c) "Change in Control" shall have the meaning ascribed to that term in Section 2.07 of the Plan.
- (d) "Competitive Activity" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 7.
- (e) "Competitor" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 7.
- (f) "Confidential Information" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 10.
- (g) "Dividend Units" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 4.

- (h) "Executive Account" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 2(b).
- (i) "Market Price" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 4.
- (j) "Non-Compete Period" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 7.
- (k) "Non-Solicit Period" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.
- (m)"Other Executive Obligations" shall mean any confidentiality, non-disparagement, work for hire or other agreement, Company policy, Code of Conduct (including, without limitation, any conflict of interest policies included therein) or plan to which the Executive is now or may in the future be a party or be subject.
- (n) "Performance-adjusted PSUs" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 3(a).
- (o) "Prospective Business Partner" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.
- (p) "PSU" shall mean a Performance Stock Unit under which Executive shall have the right to receive Shares and Dividend Units and other dividends and distributions thereon, accruing as a result of such PSU, upon vesting based on achievement of specified performance criteria and additional time vesting requirements.
- (q) "Shares" shall mean the shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock, including and such shares issuable upon the vesting of a PSU or Dividend Unit.
- (r) "Tranche 1 PSUs" shall mean those PSUs granted on the date hereof, the terms of which are set forth on Exhibit A hereof.
- (s) "Tranche 2 PSUs" shall mean those PSUs to be granted pursuant to Section 2, the terms of which are set forth on Exhibit B hereof.
- (t) "WWE Affiliates" shall have the meaning ascribed thereto in Section 8.

2. **Grant of PSUs; Restrictions**

- (a) Subject to all terms and conditions of the Plan and of this Agreement (and subject to execution of this Agreement by Executive), the Company hereby grants to Executive those Tranche 1 PSUs listed in Exhibit A to this Agreement as of the date hereof and covenants to grant those Tranche 2 PSUs listed in Exhibit B on September 21, 2022 with the grant of the Tranche 2 PSUs conditioned upon the Executive still being employed by the Company in good standing on such date.
- (b) Each PSU shall be recorded in a PSU bookkeeping account maintained by the Company in the name of Executive (the "Executive Account"). The Company's obligations under this Agreement shall be unfunded and unsecured, and no special or separate fund shall be established and no other segregation of assets shall be made. The rights of Executive under this Agreement shall be no greater than those of a general unsecured creditor of the Company. Executive shall have no

rights as a stockholder of the Company by virtue of any PSU unless and until the performance measures therefor are met and certified to by the Company's Compensation Committee and such PSU vests and resulting Shares are issued to Executive, and

- i. All terms and conditions stated in the Plan and all those stated in this Agreement shall apply to each PSU and Dividend Unit;
- ii. No PSU or Dividend Unit may be sold, transferred, pledged, hypothecated or otherwise encumbered or disposed by Executive; and
- iii. Each PSU and Dividend Unit shall remain restricted and subject to forfeiture unless and until it has vested in Executive in accordance with the Plan and this Agreement.

3. **Performance Vesting**

- (a) <u>Performance Measure.</u> The Company must meet the performance criteria set forth in <u>Exhibit A</u> hereto prior to any Tranche 1 PSU vesting and the performance criteria set forth in <u>Exhibit B</u> prior to any Tranche 2 PSU vesting. PSUs will be forfeited and/or earned at the levels and on the dates stated in <u>Exhibit A</u> and <u>Exhibit B</u>, respectively. The number of PSUs earned (if any) based on the achievement of the performance criteria are referred to herein as the "Performance-adjusted PSUs."
- (b) <u>Time Vesting.</u> The Performance-adjusted PSUs shall vest as stated in <u>Exhibit A</u> and <u>Exhibit B</u>, respectively. Associated Dividend Units and other dividends and distributions thereon, shall vest as provided in Section 4(ii).
- (c) <u>Change in Control Vesting.</u> None of the PSUs awarded under this Agreement shall be subject to accelerated vesting upon certain triggering events following a Change of Control as otherwise contemplated by Section 8.03 of the Plan.
- (d) <u>Effects of Vesting.</u> With respect to each PSU and Dividend Unit that vests, the Company shall, within a reasonable time after the vesting, and in no event later than March 15 of the year following the year in which such PUS/Dividend Unit becomes vested, issue one Share to Executive without restrictions under the Plan or this Agreement. Any such issuance shall be subject to all laws (including without limitation those governing withholding of taxes and those governing securities and transfer thereof).
- 4. Dividend Units; Vesting. With respect to each PSU, whether or not vested, that has not been forfeited (but only between the end of the performance period for which the performance criteria have been met and until the underlying Shares are issued), the Company shall, with respect to any cash dividends paid to Shares (based on the same record and payment date as the dividends paid on such Shares) accrue into the Executive Account the number of Shares ("Dividend Units") as could be purchased with the aggregate dividends that would have been paid with respect to such PSU if it were an outstanding Share (together with any other cash accrued in the Executive Account at that time) at the price per Share equal to the closing price on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) (or a comparable price, if the Shares are not then listed on the NYSE) (the "Market Price") on the date of the dividend payment. These Dividend Units thereafter (i) will be treated as PSUs for purposes of future dividend accruals pursuant to this Section 4; and (ii) will vest in such amounts

(rounded to the nearest whole Dividend Unit) at the same time as the PSUs with respect to which such Dividend Units were received. Any dividends or distributions on Shares paid other than in cash (between the end of the performance period for which the performance criteria have been met and until the underlying Shares are issued) shall accrue in the Executive Account and shall vest, if at all, at the same time as the PSUs in respect of which they are made (in each case in the same form, based on the same record date and at the same time, as such dividend or other distribution is paid on such Share).

- 5. Forfeiture. Upon termination of Executive's employment (regardless of whether caused by resignation, termination by the Company, death, disability or otherwise), each PSU, Dividend Unit and other remaining accruals in the Executive Account, in each case that has not previously vested, shall be forfeited by the Executive to the Company. Executive shall thereafter have no right, title or interest whatsoever in such unvested PSUs, Dividend Units or any other accruals and Executive shall immediately return to the Secretary of the Company any and all documents representing such forfeited items.
- 6. <u>Terms Subject to Plan.</u> Terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to PSUs and Dividend Units shall be, and shall be construed as, consistent in all respects with all terms, conditions and provisions of the Plan.
- Non-Competition. Executive agrees that during Executive's employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months after his last day of employment with the Company (the "Non-Compete Period"), Executive will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly, be (or attempt to be) employed by, perform (or attempt to perform) consulting services, be a director, officer, agent, partner or representative of, for or otherwise provide any assistance or services to any company, business, person or entity (hereinafter, a "Competitor") that is engaged in the business of organizing, producing, promoting or distributing (via television, home, video, Internet, mobile devices or any other means of transmitting audio visual materials) professional wrestling programming within the United States of America or in other countries in which the Company delivers television programming or other audio video materials or performs live events (hereinafter, collectively, "Competitive Activity").

Executive also agrees that during the Non-Compete Period, Executive shall not engage in any action in furtherance of any Competitive Activity, such as, but not limited to: (i) provide any business-related assistance or services to any officer, director, shareholder, member, employee, representative or agent of any Competitor; (ii) develop or assist in developing any sports and/or entertainment programming or live events with anyone engaged in a Competitive Activity; or (iii) pursue any other activity for the purpose of engaging in Competitive Activity.

8. Non-Solicitation of Company Business Partners. Executive agrees that during Executive's employment with the Company and for a period of twelve (12) months after his last day of employment with the Company (the "Non-Solicit Period"), Executive will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, through any Competitor) solicit, encourage or induce any Business Partner or Prospective Business Partner of the Company or any of Company's subsidiaries or affiliates (hereinafter the, "WWE Affiliates") to turn down, terminate or reduce a business relationship with the Company and/or any WWE Affiliate. For the purposes of this Agreement, a "Business Partner" shall be defined as any person, company, customer, supplier, licensee or any other entity that has sold, purchased or provided services or products to the Company or any WWE Affiliate within twelve (12) months prior to Executive's last day of employment at the Company. For the purposes of this Agreement, a "Prospective Business Partner" shall be defined as any person, company,

customer, supplier, licensee or any other entity that has solicited or received a written proposal from the Company or any WWE Affiliate to sell, purchase or provide any services or products during the twelve (12) months prior to Executive's last day of employment at the Company.

- 9. Non-Solicitation of Company Employees. Executive agrees that during the Non-Solicit Period, Executive will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, directly or indirectly (including, without limitation, through a Competitor): (a) hire or attempt to hire, solicit or attempt to solicit, recruit or attempt to recruit, induce or attempt to induce, or procure or attempt to procure, any Company Employee to work for or provide services to any entity other than the Company; (b) assist in the hiring of any Company Employee by any Competitor; (c) encourage or induce any Company Employee to terminate his or her employment with the Company; or (d) be engaged in any Competitive Activity with any Company Employee. For purposes of this Agreement, "Company Employee" shall mean any person who is or was an employee, consultant or contractor of the Company or any WWE affiliate at any time during the twelve (12) months prior to Executive's last day of employment with the Company.
- 10. Nondisclosure. Executive acknowledges that during the course of his employment with the Company, Executive has and will continue to receive Confidential Information (as defined herein). Executive agrees that he shall not at any time, whether during or after his employment at the Company, reveal to any Competitor or any other person or entity any Confidential Information except to employees of the Company who need to know such Confidential Information for the purposes of their employment, or as otherwise authorized by the Company in writing. The term "Confidential Information" shall mean: all trade secrets of the Company and all confidential and/or proprietary knowledge, data or information of the Company that has been designated as confidential by the Company, or reasonably should be understood by Executive to be confidential, including, without limitation, any business plans, marketing plans, contracts, financial statements, compensation data, pricing strategies, costs, customers and potential customers, vendors and potential vendors, marketing information, administrative and accounting systems, business results and track record, documents, notes, software, hardware, databases, processes, procedures, technologies, designs, concepts, ideas, formulas and information pertaining to pending projects and proposals. "Confidential Information" also includes confidential information of third parties, including not limited to, WWE Affiliates, made available to the Company on a confidential basis. "Confidential Information" shall not include information that has become generally known to the public without breach of any obligation of confidentiality by Executive or any third party. Executive shall not use, disclose or attempt to use or disclose any Confidential Information except as may be required in the ordinary course of performing his duties to the Company.

Nothing contained herein prohibits Executive from: (1) reporting possible violations of federal law or regulations, including any possible securities laws violations, to any governmental agency or entity,; (2) making any other disclosures that are protected under the whistleblower provisions of federal law or regulations; or (3) otherwise fully participating in any federal whistleblower programs, including but not limited to any such programs managed by the U.S. Securities and Exchange.

11. Immediate and Irreparable Harm and Injunctive Relief. The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that Executive's obligations under Sections 7 through 10 of this Agreement are reasonably necessary to protect the Company's Confidential Information and the goodwill of the Company's business. Accordingly, the Parties further agree that any actual or threatened breach of this Agreement will cause immediate and irreparable harm to the Company and will cause damages that are difficult, if not impossible, to quantify. Therefore, Executive agrees that in the event of such a breach or threatened breach,

the Company will be entitled to, in addition to any other remedies and damages available, an injunction to restrain any such breach or threatened breach, and all persons acting for and/or in concert with Executive. Executive also agrees that the Company shall not be required to post any bond to seek or secure such injunctive relief. Executive further agrees to be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State and federal courts of Connecticut as provided in Section 18 below with respect to any such action for injunctive relief. Executive and the Company agree that in any such action to enforce this Agreement, each party will bear his own legal costs and attorney's fees in the prosecution or defense of such action. The Non-Compete Period and Non-Solicit Period described in this Agreement will not expire, and will be tolled, during any period in which Executive is in violation of any of his obligations set forth in Sections 7 through 10 above and all obligations set forth in Sections 7 through 10 above automatically will be extended by the time period that Executive was in violation of any such obligation. Executive agrees that the Non-Compete Period and the Non-Solicit Period are reasonable and appropriate to protect the legitimate business interests of the Company.

- 12. Clawback of Performance Stock Award. Executive agrees that if he breaches any of his obligations set forth in this Agreement or the Executive's employment is terminated for Cause, in addition to (i) injunctive relief pursuant to Section 11 and (ii) the immediate forfeiture of any PSUs and Dividend Units pursuant to Section 5, Executive shall be obligated (x) to deliver to the Company the number of Shares that have theretofore been issued as a result of the vesting of PSUs and Dividend Units (net of any withholding taxes paid by Executive through the withholding of Shares pursuant to Section 14) hereunder and that are then held by Executive together with a cash payment equal to the aggregate amount of cash dividends or other distributions, if any, paid thereon and (y) for any number of such Shares that are no longer held by the Executive, the Executive shall pay to the Company an amount equal to the highest of (A) the gross proceeds received by the Executive from the sale of such Shares, (B) the aggregate Market Price of all such Shares on the last day they were held by the Executive, or (C) the aggregate Market Price of all such Shares on the day the payment is to be made to the Company, and in each of cases (A), (B) or (C) all cash dividends or other distributions, if any, received on such Shares. WWE shall also retain all rights and remedies beyond those listed above that are available under law or equity. The clawback of the Performance Stock Award provided for in this Section 12 is intended and shall be deemed to be a contractual obligation of Executive and is not intended and shall not be deemed to be liquidated damages.
- 13. <u>No Continuation of Employment.</u> This Agreement shall not give Executive any right to employment or continued employment, and the Company may terminate Executive's employment or otherwise treat Executive without regard to any effect such termination may have upon Executive under this Agreement.
- 14. <u>Taxes</u>. Executive shall be liable for any and all income taxes hereunder. Taxes may include but not be limited to withholding taxes and any related social security contributions or other government required withholdings arising out of this grant or the vesting of PSUs and/or Dividend Units or other distributions, if any, on Shares issued hereunder. Executive may elect to satisfy such withholding tax obligation by having the Company retain Shares having an aggregate Market Price equal to the Company's minimum withholding obligation.

15. Executive Acknowledgements and Consents.

- (a) Rights of Executive. By signing this Agreement, Executive agrees to the following:
- (i) Executive shall have no entitlement to any compensation or damages as a result of any loss or diminution in value of the PSUs or Dividend Units, including without limitation as a result of termination of Executive's employment by the Company (for any reason whatsoever including whether or not for Cause) and, if (notwithstanding the foregoing) any such claim is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to have arisen, then Executive, by signing this Agreement, shall be deemed irrevocably to have waived entitlement to pursue such claim;
- (ii) The PSUs and related Dividend Units are not part of normal or expected compensation, salary or fee for any purposes, including, but not limited to, calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement benefits or similar payments; and
- (iii) participation in the Plan is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to future participation in the Plan, or benefits in lieu of participation in the Plan, even if participation is or has been offered repeatedly.
- (b) <u>Data Protection</u>. By signing this Agreement, Executive consents to the collection, use and transfer of personal data as described in this section. Executive understands that the Company and its Affiliates hold certain personal information about the Executive, including the Executive's name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social security number, salary, nationality, job title, any shares or directorship held in the Company, details of all Awards or other entitlement to shares awarded, cancelled, exercised, vested, unvested, or outstanding in the Executive's favor ("Data"). Executive further understands that the Company and its Affiliates will transfer Data as necessary for the purposes of the Award included in this Agreement and may further transfer Data to any third parties assisting the Company and/or its Affiliates in relation to the Plan. Executive understands that recipients of Data may be located in the European Economic Area or elsewhere, including the United States of America. Executive authorizes recipients (including the Company) to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data (including any requisite transfer to a broker or other third party with whom Executive may elect to deposit any Shares of such Data as may be required for the subsequent holding of Shares on Executive's behalf), in electronic or other form, for the purposes of implementing, administering and managing participation in the Plan.
- 16. Severability. Executive agrees that each provision and the subparts of each provision herein shall be treated as separate and independent clauses, and the unenforceability of any one clause shall in no way impair the enforceability of any of the other clauses of this Agreement. If one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement shall for any reason be held to be excessively broad as to scope, activity, subject or otherwise so as to be unenforceable at law, the Parties hereby jointly request that such provision or provisions be interpreted and/or modified so as to be enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with the applicable law. In the event that such provision or provisions cannot be so interpreted or modified, then it shall be deemed to be null and void and the remainder of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless such nullification fundamentally frustrates the purpose of this Agreement, in which case the entire Agreement shall be deemed void ab initio.

- 17. <u>Amendments and Waiver.</u> Any amendment to or modification of this Agreement, or any waiver of any provision hereof, must be in writing and signed by the Executive and the Company. Any waiver or alleged waiver by the Company of a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any subsequent breach of such provision or any other provision hereof.
- 18. Governing Law; Jurisdiction. This Agreement and any claims arising out of or relating to this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Connecticut and shall in all respects be interpreted, enforced and governed under the internal and domestic laws of such state, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of laws of such state. If any dispute arises with respect to this Agreement or any matter hereunder, (x) such dispute shall be submitted to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Federal or state courts sitting in the State of Connecticut, with each party waiving any defense to such venue; and (y) each party irrevocably waives its right to a jury trial.
- 19. <u>Legally Enforceable Contract and Opportunity to Consult Counsel.</u> Executive acknowledges that he has been informed that this Agreement constitutes a legally enforceable contract and that if Executive signs this Agreement, it will impose binding legal obligations on him. Executive also acknowledges that he has been advised to consult with an attorney of his choice regarding this Agreement and that Executive has received a full and fair opportunity to confer with such counsel. Executive further acknowledges that he has decided to enter into this Agreement voluntarily of his free will, without duress or coercion, on the date indicated below.
- 20. <u>Interpretation and Construction.</u> Executive acknowledges and agrees that he and his attorney have received a fair opportunity to review and comment on the provisions of this Agreement. Accordingly, Executive agrees that the language of all parts of this Agreement shall in all cases be construed as a whole according to its fair meaning and not strictly for or against either of the Parties.

	/s/ NICK KHAN Nick Khan	
WORLD WRESTLING ENTERTAINMENT, INC.		
By: <u>/s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON</u> Vincent K. McMahon Chairman & CEO		
and		
By: <u>/s/ FRANK A. RIDDICK, III</u> Frank A. Riddick, III Chair of Compensation Committee		

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Agreement to be duly executed and delivered as of the day and year first written above.

Certification required by Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

- I, Vincent K. McMahon, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 29, 2020 By: /s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON

Vincent K. McMahon Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Certification required by Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-14 as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

- I, Kristina Salen, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
 - a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 - b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
 - c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 - d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 - All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 - b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Dated: October 29, 2020 By: /s/ KRISTINA SALEN
Kristina Salen

Chief Financial Officer

Certification of Chairman and CEO and CFO Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of World Wrestling Entertainment, Inc. (the "Company") for the quarter ended September 30, 2020 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), Vincent K. McMahon as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Kristina Salen as Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of his or her knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended; and
- (2) The information contained in the report fairly presents, in all material aspects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: October 29, 2020 By: /s/ VINCENT K. MCMAHON

Vincent K. McMahon Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

By: /s/ KRISTINA SALEN

Kristina Salen Chief Financial Officer